Elizabeth A Kelvin Eva Mwai Matthew L Romo Gavin George Kaymarlin Govender Joanne E Mantell Michael Strauss Eston N Nyaga Jacob O Odhiambo

## Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya

July 2017

## Impact Evaluation Report 64







#### About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) is an international grant-making non-governmental organization promoting evidence-informed development policies and programs. We are the global leader in funding, producing and synthesizing high-quality evidence of what works, for whom, why and at what cost. We believe that high-quality and policy-relevant evidence will help make development more effective and improve people's lives.

#### **3ie impact evaluations**

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design, and use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes that are useful in complex developmental contexts.

#### About this report

3ie accepted the final version of the report, *Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya*, as partial fulfillment of requirements under grant TW2.2.06 issued under the HIV self-testing thematic window. The content has been copy-edited and formatted for publication by 3ie to the extent possible. All the content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are also the sole responsibility of the authors. All affiliations of the authors listed in the title page are those that were in effect at the time the report was accepted. Any comments or queries should be directed to the corresponding author, Elizabeth Kelvin, elizabethakelvin@gmail.com.

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation funded the 3ie HIV Self-Testing Thematic Window.

Suggested citation: Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017. *Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64.* New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

**Executive editors:** Beryl Leach and Emmanuel Jimenez Production manager: Angel Kharya Assistant production manager: Akarsh Gupta Proofreader: Bulletproof Cover design: John F McGill Cover photo: Dave Chidley/North Star Alliance

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2017

# Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya

Elizabeth A Kelvin City University of New York Graduate School of Public Health and Health Policy

Eva Mwai North Star Alliance

Matthew L Romo City University of New York Graduate School of Public Health and Health Policy

Gavin George University of KwaZulu-Natal

Kaymarlin Govender University of KwaZulu-Natal

Joanne E Mantell New York State Psychiatric Institute and Columbia University

Michael Strauss University of KwaZulu-Natal

Eston N Nyaga North Star Alliance

Jacob O Odhiambo North Star Alliance

#### **3ie Impact Evaluation report 64**

July 2017



#### Summary

The objective of the evaluation was to assess whether offering HIV testing choices to truck drivers in Kenya increased testing uptake. We conducted a randomized controlled trial among 305 truck drivers from two North Star Alliance roadside wellness clinics in Kenya.

Study participants were randomized to receive (1) a healthcare provider-administered, rapid blood (finger prick) HIV test (i.e. standard of care arm) or (2) a choice between the standard of care or an oral, rapid HIV self-test under the provider's supervision in the clinic (the choice arm). Participants in the choice arm who refused HIV testing in the clinic were offered a test kit for home use plus phone-based, post-test counseling. We compared HIV test uptake using the Mantel Haenszel odds ratio (OR), adjusting for clinic.

Truck drivers in the choice arm had higher odds of HIV testing uptake than those in the standard of care arm (OR = 1.5). The difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.189). When adding the option to take an HIV test kit for home use, the choice arm had significantly greater odds of testing uptake (OR = 2.8, p = 0.002). Of those in the choice arm who tested, 26.9% selected the standard of care test, 64.6% chose supervised self-testing in the clinic and 8.5% took a test kit for home use.

Participants varied in the HIV test they selected when given choices. Importantly, when participants who refused HIV testing in the clinic were offered a test kit for home use, an additional 8.5% tested. By offering truck drivers a variety of HIV testing choices, we may increase HIV testing uptake in this key population.

### Contents

Summary	i
List of figures and tables	iii
Abbreviations and acronyms	iv
1. Introduction	1
2. Background and context	2
2.1 Political and programmatic context	2
2.2 Theory of change	3
2.3 Methods overview	4
2.4 Outcomes examined	4
2.5 Fieldworker training	5
2.6 Challenges encountered	5
3. Data and methods	7
3.1 Eligibility and recruitment	9
3.2 First quantitative interview at baseline	9
3.3 Randomization	10
3.4 Six month follow-up interview	12
3.5 In-depth interviews	12
3.6 Data collection, management and cleaning	12
3.7 Participant compensation	13
3.8 Sample size and power	13
3.9 Statistical analysis	13
4. Results	17
4.1 Description of the sample	17
4.2 Impact of the intervention	20
4.3 Reasons for HIV test selected at baseline by those in the choice arm	24
4.4 Self-test steps where participants had questions or needed correction	25
4.5 Other predictors of HIV testing	26
4.6 Predictors of HIV test selected when given a choice	33
4.7 Discrete choice experiment results	35
4.8 In-depth interview results	38
4.9 Estimation of the added cost of the choice program compared with SOC	45
5. Discussion	49
5.1 Implications of study results	49
5.2 Limitations of the study	52
5.3 Policy implications	53
5.4 Conclusions	54
References	55

## List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Study flow diagram	8
Figure 2: Discrete choice experiment results – stratified models by HIV testing history	
and marital status	.37
Figure 3: Logic model for study	.46

Table 1: Discrete choice experiment attributes and levels10Table 2: Descriptive statistics for the sample, overall and by randomization arm	) 3
status2	l
Table 4: Association between test selected at baseline and testing over six-month follow- up23	3
Table 5: HIV test used at baseline and reason given for test choice (choice arm, of those who tested, n = 130)         24	1
Table 6: Self-test steps where participants had questions or needed correction*26	3
Table 7: Association between scales and demographic variables with HIV testing	
history2	7
Table 8: Logistic regression models evaluating the association between scales and	
demographic variables with HIV testing at baseline and follow-up	)
Table 9: Demographics and risk behaviors as predictors of selecting the oral HIV self-test (versus the healthcare provider-administered blood test) among those who	
tested	1
Table 10: Discrete choice experiment results         38	5

## Abbreviations and acronyms

ARV	Antiretrovirals
CI	Confidence interval
HTC	HIV testing and counseling
IQR	Interquartile range
KES	Kenyan shillings
NASCOP	National AIDS and STI Control Programme
OR	Odds ratio
SD	Standard deviation
SOC	Standard of care

#### 1. Introduction

Truck drivers are at higher risk for HIV compared with people working in other settings (Ojo et al. 2011). HIV transmission has been associated with transportation routes (Ramjee et al. 1998) and in some areas, including Kenya, HIV rates remain high along border posts and major highways (IRIN 2013; Jurgensen et al. 2012).

High-risk behavior and HIV transmission were described in a study among truck drivers recruited from truck stops in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa (Ramjee and Gouws 2002); 34% reported that they always stop for sex while traveling for work and 29% said they never used condoms with female sex workers. The majority of truck drivers in that study reported having a main partner (e.g. a wife or girlfriend) and, of those, only 13% reported using condoms with their main partner. HIV prevalence among that sample of truck drivers was similar to that of female sex workers, at 56%.

More recent studies among truck drivers in Africa have also found high HIV prevalence, including 23% among long-distance truck drivers in Nigeria (Azuonwu et al. 2011), 15.4% among truck drivers in Mozambique (Botão et al. 2016) and 26% among truck drivers in South Africa (Delany-Moretlwe et al. 2014. Because truck drivers often cross international borders for their work (Mills et al. 2012; North Star Alliance 2012; Mantell et al. 2014), high HIV prevalence among female sex workers and their truck driver clients in one country can lead to HIV transmission to truck drivers from other regions or countries, and to their wives and partners at home.

A study conducted in Kenya between 1993 and 1997 found that the prevalence of HIV among drivers at one company was 17.8% and that rates of HIV were much higher among truck drivers than stationary staff (e.g. administrators and mechanics). The truck drivers reported more time away from home, with an average of two weeks of travel per month, compared with stationary staff (Rakwar et al. 1999). This work-related separation may also make extramarital relationships more common among the wives and female partners who remain in the home community, further increasing HIV risk for both members of the couple (Lurie et al. 2003).

Gender disparities in HIV testing remain. Men are less likely to test for HIV than women in many African countries (Venkatesh et al. 2011; Ramkissoon et al. 2011; Shisana et al. 2009; Mills et al. 2012; Angotti et al. 2009). In Kenya in 2012, 35.8% of men versus 47.3% of women had been tested for HIV in the past year (UNAIDS 2014a). As truck driving is a male-dominated profession (Progressio 2013), we would expect truck drivers to have lower HIV testing rates than the general population.

Few studies have looked at HIV testing among truck drivers, but one study among 1,881 truck drivers in South Africa in 2003–2004 found that only 38.2% had ever been tested for HIV (Delany-Moretlwe et al. 2014). The North Star Alliance, the organization which implemented this study, which runs 35 roadside wellness clinics providing services to truck drivers on major transit routes in Africa, reported that in 2012 only about 21% of its 219,681 client visits included HIV testing, despite the fact that it is offered at every visit (North Star Alliance 2012). Trucking Wellness, which runs 22 roadside clinics for truck drivers in South Africa, reported that only about 10% of the more than 90,000 clients it

saw in 2012 were tested for HIV, of which 7% were found to be HIV positive (Trucking Wellness 2012).

Oral HIV self-testing, whereby a person collects an oral swab specimen, performs a test and interprets the test result themselves (UNAIDS 2014b), might be an effective tool for increasing rates of HIV testing among truck drivers. This form of testing can allow individuals to test themselves in private, e.g. at home or even in the cab of a truck during a work break, and to disclose the test results only when, and to whom, they choose. Oral HIV self-testing can also be performed in a clinic setting, with healthcare providers available to provide instructions and guidance, answer questions, and offer in-person counseling and referrals to healthcare if needed, while still allowing individuals to view test results in private and disclose them only if they choose.

We conducted a pilot program to introduce oral HIV self-testing as an option to truck driver clients of two North Star Alliance clinics in Kenya in two settings, either in the clinic or outside of it (i.e. a test kit to take for home use). We randomized 305 truck driver clients to be offered either the standard, provider-administered, blood-based (finger prick) HIV testing (standard of care [SOC] arm) or offered a choice between the SOC test or supervised oral HIV self-testing (choice arm). Self-testing in the choice arm involved using the OraQuick® in-home HIV test in the clinic, with professional staff available to answer questions during self-administration of the test and offer correction if the participant did something wrong. We offered a self-test kit to take for home use to participants in the choice arm who refused both testing options in the clinic.

All participants were told that they should test for HIV every three months. Those in the choice arm were also told that they could come to any North Star Alliance clinic in Kenya 3–6 months later and get a self-test kit to use at home or in the clinic with supervision. We interviewed participants after six months to ask about HIV testing during follow-up.

We hypothesized that offering a choice of testing methods would lead to more truck drivers accepting HIV testing in the clinic, both at baseline (including taking a test for home use) and during the six-month follow-up.

#### 2. Background and context

#### 2.1 Political and programmatic context

The Kenyan government has called for oral HIV self-testing to form part of the HIV testing and counseling policy (National AIDS and STI Control Programme [NASCOP] 2008). Other African governments are also considering making this type of test available (South African National AIDS Council 2011). Therefore, results from this intervention can help inform the development of policies around HIV self-testing.

This study was conducted in two North Star Alliance clinics in Kenya. The North Star Alliance is an international NGO that brings health services to hard-to-reach populations across Africa, including truck drivers and sex workers. It runs 35 clinics in Africa, eight of which are in Kenya. The clinics are open at hours that suit these target groups and offer a range of prevention and treatment services, including primary healthcare; sexually transmitted infection screening and treatment; tuberculosis screening and treatment; treatment of mobility-related illnesses; behavior change communication; laboratory

services; HIV counseling and testing; and, in some clinics, antiretroviral therapy for those who are HIV positive (North Star Alliance 2014).

In 2012, North Star Alliance served 219,681 clients throughout Africa, the majority of whom attended educational sessions (61.5%) or received primary healthcare services (31.7%) (North Star Alliance 2012). The two study clinics together serve about 400 clients weekly, about 30% of whom are truck drivers. Clients are offered HIV testing at every clinic visit. About 60% of truck driver clients accept testing, of whom about 1.5% test HIV positive (personal communication from Eva Mwai, East Africa director, North Star Alliance, July 3, 2014).

#### 2.2 Theory of change

The theory of change guiding our hypothesis that HIV testing uptake among truck drivers will increase when they have more choices in testing strategies is Tversky and Kahneman's Prospect Theory (1981). Prospect theory is an expansion of behavioral economics that considers the certainty of various potential outcomes based on a cost-benefit analysis of the individual situation.

Thus, the barriers to HIV testing (time, financial and potential social costs associated with healthcare provider-administered, clinic-based testing) must be weighed against the benefits of knowing one's status to prevent HIV if one is HIV negative, preventing transmission to others if one is HIV positive, and of obtaining appropriate healthcare if one is HIV positive to improve or maintain health and reduce mortality risk. Any intervention that reduces barriers to HIV testing will have the effect of reducing the cost associated with HIV testing, and may increase the seeking or acceptance of testing.

Oral HIV self-testing as a choice may address some of the barriers preventing some individuals from testing under the current system, such as by increasing privacy (thus decreasing the potential social costs) and decreasing the time spent in the clinic for those taking test kits for home use. Furthermore, truck drivers have been described as having fatalistic views about their health (Progresio 2013; IRIN 2013). If it is possible to reduce the sense of fatalism among truck drivers by (1) making HIV testing more of an autonomous, empowering experience (Johnson et al. 2014) and (2) making the benefits of receiving care if they are HIV positive better understood and accessible, the probability of the desired outcome from HIV testing may improve in the probability assessment, leading more truck drivers to choose to test for HIV.

Thus, self-testing may decrease the barriers currently preventing some truck drivers from seeing the benefits of HIV testing. For some who are already accessing HIV testing under the current program (provider-administered blood test), it is possible that self-testing will have a more positive cost-benefit ratio, and those individuals may switch to the self-test when given a choice. For others, the cost-benefit ratio may be better for the provider-administered blood test. The cost-benefit ratio is affected by context and individual preferences. Offering choices in HIV testing should therefore be more likely to provide an acceptable option than offering only one HIV testing method.

#### 2.3 Methods overview

Truck drivers from these two clinics were randomized 1:1, and selection was stratified by clinic into one of two groups: (1) SOC or (2) choice. Participants randomized to the SOC arm were offered the provider-administered, blood-based (finger prick) rapid HIV test used in all North Star Alliance clinics (Colloidal Gold test) (World Health Organization 2013). Participants randomized to the choice arm were offered the choice between (a) the SOC test described above or (b) supervised oral rapid HIV self-testing. Those who refused both in-clinic testing options were then offered (c) a test kit to use outside of the clinic (e.g. at home).

After the baseline data collection and HIV testing (or test refusal), those in the choice arm were also told that they could go to any North Star Alliance clinic in Kenya 3–6 months later to pick up a self-test kit for supervised use in the clinic or for unsupervised use outside of the clinic. After three months, we sent a text message reminder about availability of the self-test kit to participants in the choice arm. Those in the SOC arm were sent the standard North Star Alliance text reminding them to visit a North Star Alliance clinic for HIV testing. We then conducted a follow-up interview six months into the study, in which we collected information about HIV testing during the follow-up period.

As part of the baseline interview prior to randomization, we included a discrete choice experiment to investigate preferences regarding HIV testing modalities. This was designed to determine the feasibility, optimal methods and potential impact on test uptake of integrating HIV self-testing as an option within North Star Alliance clinics in Kenya and elsewhere. We also aimed to conduct in-depth interviews at baseline among 10 participants in each arm who refused HIV testing at baseline (n = 20) and another 10 participants in the choice arm who did not pick up a self-test kit during follow-up, in an effort to understand why some people refuse to test and if these reasons vary when offered testing choices.

Recruitment and testing at baseline occurred during a two-month period (October through December 2015) and follow-up interviews were completed six months later, in June 2016.

#### 2.4 Outcomes examined

The primary outcome of interest for this study was uptake of HIV testing in the clinic. Specifically, we examined uptake of the initial HIV test in the clinic between those randomized to the SOC arm versus the choice arm (choice of either provider-administered or supervised self-test). We also looked at HIV test uptake at baseline, in which we included taking a test kit for home use for those in the choice arm. Secondary outcomes examined include: 1) the impact of the intervention on HIV testing uptake at six-month follow-up; 2) whether the uptake of follow-up HIV testing within six months differed depending on the HIV test outcome at baseline; 3) demographic and behavioral predictors of overall HIV testing, as well as predictors of selecting self-testing in the clinic among those in the choice arm; 4) preferences for HIV testing in a discrete choice experiment; and 5) reasons for choosing not to test from in-depth interviews.

#### 2.5 Fieldworker training

In April 2015, we held four full days of fieldworker training in Nairobi, Kenya, attended by the study fieldworkers as well as North Star Alliance management. During this training, we reviewed the study protocol and read through all study data collection forms to ensure the questions were clear. The fieldworkers then practiced the study procedures through role-playing, and practiced the interviews. Questions were brought back to the group for consideration, and some edits were made to the questionnaires to ensure clarity.

In September 2015, we held a two-day refresher training for the fieldworkers in Nairobi. In October 2015, a study investigator visited each site the day before study recruitment started for a final review of preparations and fieldworkers' understanding of the study procedures. Because the in-depth interviews were postponed, a study investigator visited each clinic in March 2016 to conduct refresher training on the in-depth interview procedures right before the fieldworkers started recruitment for these interviews.

Study investigators and the project coordinator also conducted regular monitoring visits to the clinics to check that the fieldworkers were clear on the procedures, and the fieldworkers used WhatsApp to contact one of the Africa-based study investigators (in similar time zones) when they had questions or concerns.

#### 2.6 Challenges encountered

Although the study was successfully implemented, there were some logistical issues that serve as lessons learned. We experienced significant delays in study start-up due to a large number of institutional review board and ethics committee queries. The requirement to submit to three different ethics committees meant that each time one committee requested a change, an amendment had to go to the other two committees, and they did not always agree on how best to implement the study. We also found that receiving the test kits for the study took more time than anticipated.

In addition, we had originally planned for fieldworkers to enter data from their interviews into an online database using computer tablets. To enter data, they would need an Internet connection to access the database that was housed on a secure server in New York City. Although internet connections were available at the clinics, the connections were too slow and unreliable to enter data into the database. We then sent hard copies of all of the study forms to North Star Alliance's central office in Nairobi, which has a reliable Internet connection, so staff members there could enter data.

Because data had to be transported to Nairobi and then entered in batches, investigators could not monitor data quality in real time. Periodically, we downloaded the data, identified missing data and illogical answers and sent these queries to staff at North Star Alliance's Nairobi office to compare with the hard copy files or clarify with fieldworkers. This delay in accessing data in the database and the quick study timeline (the baseline data was all collected in less than three months), we were not able to identify problems with the interviews early and retrain the fieldworkers to minimize problems going forward.

In addition, we found excessive data entry errors as the individuals entering the data were not as well trained and committed to the project as the fieldworkers, whom we

originally planned would enter the data. This led to our decision to do double data entry to minimize data entry errors. During this double data entry process, we found the files for five additional study participants that had not been entered into the database. We were targeting a sample of 300 participants for this study and closely monitored recruitment during the last few weeks to ensure we did not go over this target, but since these five participants had not been counted, we ended up with 305 participants, five more than our target.

In the future, we would recommend that fieldworkers in settings with unreliable Internet use portable wireless internet connections. Ideally, fieldworkers should enter the data they collect to ensure that it is accurate and that there are no errors on the hard copy forms. This would also allow faster access to the data by remote investigators to monitor data as it is being collected and quickly entered.

In-depth interviews were to be conducted in the clinics following the 1–1.5 hour long study interviews and HIV test offered at baseline. However, fieldworkers did not recruit participants for the in-depth baseline interviews as planned. This was due to time constraints (the truck drivers could not stay for an additional hour-long interview after having spent 1–1.5 hours on study interviews) and fieldworkers' lack of facility while learning the protocol for the baseline procedures. Therefore, we ended up conducting the baseline in-depth interviews during the follow-up period, which made it slightly harder to gain insight into the specific reasons why participants declined HIV testing at baseline.

This was not a problem with the follow-up interviews because they were scheduled for a separate phone interview following the final, phone-based follow-up quantitative interview, which was much shorter (15–20 minutes). Furthermore, upon receipt of the indepth interview transcripts, we discovered that 5 of the 29 participants (4 of the 20 baseline and 1 of the follow-up interviews) were not actually eligible for the in-depth interviews as they had either tested for HIV at baseline or, in the case of the ineligible follow-up interview, the participant was in the SOC arm, not the choice arm. These interviews were therefore excluded from analysis. We suspect that this problem, at least for the baseline interviews, is related to the data entry error rates, as we used the entered data to identify those eligible for the in-depth interviews before the data was cleaned.

Another challenge was that, during follow-up, fieldworkers initially failed to contact study participants who picked up an oral self-test kit for home use. The protocol was for participants taking a test kit for home use to be told that they had to use the test within three days and should text the counselor for post-test counseling. After three days, if the participant had not sent this text, the counselor was to call the participant to inquire if he had used the test and, if so, to provide post-test counseling.

None of the participants during baseline or follow-up sent a text after using the test kit (all tests were negative according to the participants' reports when the counselor reached them). However, we found that the counselors neglected to contact the participants three days after taking a test kit during follow-up. We discovered this about 2 months into the 3–6 month period when participants were eligible to pick up test kits, and immediately instructed the counselors to contact those who took test kits for counseling, but by this point it was 1–2 months after testing.

Fortunately, the counselors were able to reach all of the participants, and there were no adverse outcomes from this protocol violation, which was reported to the review board. Given the importance of post-test counseling in HIV testing in general, this highlights a possible problem if oral self-testing is implemented in Kenya. Protocols that implement HIV self-testing need to consider carefully how they will offer and deliver post-test counseling.

The fieldworkers were not used to administering such long questionnaires or following complex study protocols, which may have had an impact on the quality of the data. However, because the intervention was randomized, the impact of data quality issues should be non-differential by study arm and thus bias the results toward the null. While the fieldworkers were not blind after the randomization was revealed (following the baseline interview), the randomization process should ensure that about an equal proportion of the choice arm and SOC arm participants were recruited early in the study, when the fieldworkers were still learning the procedures. This would decrease our power to find a difference by study arm overall, but we can be fairly confident that any differences found are real or an underestimation of the true association.

#### 3. Data and methods

Figure 1 depicts the study flow. The City University of New York Institutional Review Board, the Kenya Medical Research Institute Ethics Committee and the University of KwaZulu-Natal Biomedical Research Ethics Committee approved the study procedures.

#### Figure 1: Study flow diagram



#### 3.1 Eligibility and recruitment

Any male truck driver who visited the two North Star Alliance clinics for reasons other than HIV care during the recruitment period was informed of the research study by the clinic receptionist. If interested, they were referred to a fieldworker for additional information and eligibility screening. The eligibility criteria were: (1) be at least 18 years old; (2) be male; (3) work as a truck driver; (4) reside in Kenya; (5) speak English or Kiswahili; (6) have a self-reported HIV-negative or unknown HIV status; (7) be able to sign the consent form; and (8) be willing to receive payment of participation fees via M-Pesa (a mobile phone-based money transfer system widely used in Kenya).

Participants were told that study participation involved completing two questionnaires on the day of recruitment (baseline visit) and a phone-based questionnaire six months later. The study was described to participants as being about HIV testing experiences and preferences. They were told that HIV testing would be offered, as it would be at any North Star Alliance clinic visit, but that their decision about testing would not impact their access to healthcare services or their study eligibility. Participants were not informed about the specific research question or the fact that they would be randomized to different HIV testing options in order to avoid bias.

#### 3.2 First quantitative interview at baseline

Eligible men who were willing to participate in the study were asked to read and sign an informed consent or, if they preferred, the fieldworker would read the form to them before they signed their consent. Following the consent process, the fieldworker administered the first survey (baseline), which included questions about participants' demographic characteristics and sexual health behaviors and experiences, including HIV testing. We also administered a number of previously validated scales to quantify anticipated HIV stigma (Weiser et al. 2006), self-efficacy (Schwarzer and Jerusalem 1995), fatalism (Shen et al. 2009), self-esteem (Rosenberg 1965) and gender equity (Pulerwitz and Barker 2008).

We also asked participants about their HIV testing preferences, including (a) facilitybased or home-based, (b) self-administered or provider-administered, and (c) bloodbased or oral test (see Table 1 for a list of attributes).

We used discrete choice experimental methods to identify preferred HIV testing modalities. Discrete choice analysis is a stated preference method especially useful for assessing individuals' preferences for health and healthcare (Viney et al. 2002). The method forces individuals to make trade-offs between attributes by offering them a series of choices ("choice sets") between different scenarios ("options" or "alternatives") based on the attributes (e.g. type of test, who administers the test) and levels (e.g. blood or oral, provider or self) associated with the HIV testing options. Scenarios comprise combinations of different levels of each attribute and are presented to participants in sets of two, from which the participants pick which they would prefer.

Attribute	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4
	(baseline)			
Type of test	Finger prick	Oral mouth swab	_	-
	blood test	test		
Type of	In-person	Telephone-	—	-
counseling	counseling	based		
		counseling		
Who administers	Nurse-	Self-	—	-
the test	administered	administered		
Location	At a roadside	At a clinic near	At the	At home
	clinic	home	company office	
Time	90 minutes	20 minutes	40 minutes	3 hours
Cost	Free	You pay KES	You pay KES	We pay
		250	300	you KES
				350

#### Table 1: Discrete choice experiment attributes and levels

#### 3.3 Randomization

Participants were assigned identity numbers consecutively that were pre-printed on the consent form and baseline survey. The last page of the baseline survey was attached to a sealed envelope with the randomization assignment, which was opened upon completion of the baseline survey. The randomization assignments were generated on a 1:1 ratio and stratified on clinic.

#### 3.3.1 SOC arm

Following the baseline interview, participants randomized to the SOC arm were offered HIV testing using the standard clinic procedure by clinic HIV testing and counseling (HTC) staff. If the participant refused the HIV test, research staff administered a short second survey asking about reasons for the test refusal and plans for future HIV testing. Ten participants who refused HIV testing in each arm were invited to participate in an indepth interview about their HIV risk perception, views about HIV testing and treatment, and reasons for refusing HIV testing. Participants were offered a choice of doing the indepth interview at baseline or scheduling a phone interview for a later time (all were scheduled for a later time).

Participants in the SOC arm who accepted HIV testing received the standard pre-test counseling, provider-administered, blood-based (finger prick) HIV test and post-test counseling. Following the HIV testing procedures, the fieldworker administered a short survey about the participant's experience of the testing and counseling procedures and plans for future HIV testing. The research staff then collected the participant's contact information and made an appointment for a telephone follow-up interview six months later.

#### 3.3.2 Choice arm

Following the baseline interview, participants randomized to the choice arm were given a brief demonstration of the HIV self-test kit and were told that if they chose to self-test, they would have the choice between viewing the test results with the counselor for help

with interpretation, or by themselves if they preferred to keep the test results private. Participants were then offered a choice of HIV testing methods, either self-testing supervised by the clinic HTC counselor or the SOC HIV test. If a participant refused both in-clinic HIV testing options, he was offered an HIV self-test kit to use outside of the clinic (e.g. at home). Those who refused all three testing options or who chose the SOC test underwent the same procedure as participants in the SOC arm (described above).

Participants in the choice arm who chose to undergo supervised oral HIV self-testing received the standard pre-test counseling. Then the healthcare provider gave the participant the HIV test kit with pictorial instructions plus written English and Kiswahili instructions under each picture, and instructed the participant to follow the instructions but to ask questions if anything was unclear. If the participant did something incorrectly, the counselor would intervene to ensure that the test was administered correctly.

During this process, the counselor completed a self-testing observation form, indicating at which steps the participant asked questions or required unsolicited correction, and if any steps were not completed correctly despite intervention by the counselor. After testing, the participant received post-test counseling. Participants who self-tested and chose to view their test result alone were encouraged to disclose the test results during post-test counseling, but were not required to do so.

If someone chose not to disclose their test results, they received post-test counseling and referrals for HIV-positive or HIV-negative results. They were told to use the appropriate information and referrals based on their test result. However, all participants in this study who self-tested either viewed the results with the counselor or disclosed their HIV test results during counseling (all tests were negative).

Participants who refused both in-clinic HIV testing options were offered an HIV self-test kit to take and use outside of the clinic. They were told to use the test within three days and to text the HTC counselor afterwards for a call back for post-test counseling and referrals if needed. Participants were also told that they could text or call the counselor while self-testing if they had questions or concerns. Those who took a test kit for use outside of the clinic received pre-test counseling before leaving the clinic. If they did not text the counselor after three days, the counselor called them to see if they had used the test, and to administer post-test counseling and provide referrals.

Following these HIV testing procedures, the fieldworker administered a short survey about the participant's experience of the self-testing and counseling procedures. For those who took a test kit for use outside of the clinic, this survey was administered over the phone following the post-test counseling.

All participants in the choice arm, no matter what their testing choices at baseline, were told that they could attend any of the 8 North Star Alliance clinics in Kenya within 3–6 months to pick up a second HIV test for use outside of the clinic and that their final follow-up interview would be done by phone after using that self-test or, for those who did not pick up a self-test kit, after six months (as for those in the SOC arm).

Before participants left the clinic, the research staff collected their contact information and made an appointment for a telephone follow-up interview in six months, which would be rescheduled for those in the choice arm who picked up a test kit before then. Ten participants in the choice arm who did not pick up a test kit were invited to participate in an in-depth interview over the phone or in person, depending on the participant's preference. The interview included questions about reasons for not picking up a test kit and plans for HIV testing in the future.

#### 3.4 Six-month follow-up interview

Participants in both study arms were called six months later for a follow-up telephone interview about whether they had been retested for HIV in the past six months and if they had received any other HIV-related services. If they had received services, we asked where they received them, what their experience was like and whether they needed any new referrals. Participants in the choice arm who picked up an oral HIV self-test from a clinic during follow-up completed the follow-up interview over the phone following posttest counseling. The interview explored the participant's experience with self-administered testing outside of the clinic and their plans for future testing.

#### 3.5 In-depth interviews

We conducted in-depth interviews with 16 men who refused HIV testing at baseline (11 in the SOC arm and five in the choice arm) and eight men who in the choice arm who did not pick up a test kit during follow-up (one agreed to the interview but, despite multiple attempts, could not be reached for the interview). While the baseline in-depth interviews were originally planned to be conducted in person in the clinic directly following the second quantitative interview about refusal of HIV testing, we were concerned that some participants might not have time at baseline and allowed the option to schedule the in-depth interview for another time, over the phone or in person.

All of the baseline in-depth interviews were conducted 3–6 months after initial participation in the study due to scheduling challenges. The in-depth interviews with men who did not pick up an HIV self-test kit for use outside of the clinic were conducted 1–3 months following their quantitative follow-up interview, again due to scheduling difficulties.

All in-depth interviews were conducted in English, Kiswahili or a combination of these languages, according to participants' preference. The interviews were audio-recorded and then transcribed and translated into English for analysis. To ensure accurate translation, a bilingual Kiswahili and English member of the research team reviewed all in-depth interviews before they were submitted for coding and analysis. Because of some confusion with the eligibility criteria, we found that only 16 of the 20 baseline interviews and 8 of the 9 follow-up interviews were conducted with eligible study participants (i.e. participants who had refused HIV testing at the relevant time), as described in Section 2.6 above.

#### 3.6 Data collection, management and cleaning

Quantitative data was collected by research staff using paper forms and stored in a locked file cabinet in the clinics. Forms with identifying information (the signed consent form and contact information form) were kept separate from those with study data and identified with a different study identification numbering system so that participants' names could not be linked to their study data through the paper forms. The forms with

study data were later transferred to the North Star Alliance Nairobi office for data entry and long-term storage while those with the participant contact information remained in the clinics.

Study data was entered by Nairobi research staff over a secure Internet connection into the password-protected, Internet-based database REDCap (Harris et al. 2009), which was housed on a secure server at Columbia University in New York City. After initial entry, double data entry was conducted for all baseline forms and half of the follow-up forms by study investigators to ensure accuracy. While the data entry error rates for the baseline data were fairly high, requiring double data entry, the error rate for the follow-up data was low and therefore we only double entered the first half of the forms.

We ran queries on the entered data to identify inconsistent responses and frequencies to explore missing data. In some cases, we asked fieldworkers to check responses on the baseline questionnaires with participants during the follow-up interview and make corrections when possible.

#### 3.7 Participant compensation

At the end of each interview, participants were compensated for their time. The compensation was 270 Kenyan shillings (KES) for the baseline and discrete choice experiment interviews, which collected background information and information about testing preferences, KES 270 for the post-test interview, asking about the testing experience, KES 450 for the in-depth interviews asking for more details about testing decisions and assumptions, and KES 360 for the 6 month follow-up interview, also asking about the testing experience and decisions. Participant compensation was made via M-Pesa. At the time of the study, KES 1 was worth approximately USD 0.01.

#### 3.8 Sample size and power

We estimated that if the testing rate in the SOC group was 60%, as expected based on the testing rates in the clinics before the study, we would have 80% power to detect an odds ratio of 1.7 at a 2-sided alpha of 0.05 with a sample of 150 in each arm.

#### 3.9 Statistical analysis

#### 3.9.1 Description of sample

We describe the participants overall and by randomization arm in terms of demographic characteristics, work history, HIV risk behavior and HIV testing history. We used the Pearson chi-square test (Fisher's exact if any expected cell counts were less than 5) to assess the significance of differences in categorical variables by randomization arm and the Mann Whitney U test for numeric variables.

#### 3.9.2 HIV test uptake outcomes

We looked at the proportion of participants who accepted HIV testing in the clinic only, during baseline (including taking a test kit for home use), and at follow-up (overall and by randomization arm) in an intent-to-treat analysis. To assess the statistical significance of differences by randomization arm, we calculated Mantel Haenszel odds ratios, confidence intervals and p-values for HIV test uptake by study arm adjusted for clinic (strata used in the randomization scheme). We also compared each outcome by the HIV

test offered (SOC only versus choice) in a per protocol analysis, as one participant in the choice arm was only offered the SOC test.

#### 3.9.3 Description of HIV test selected among those given a choice

Among participants in the choice arm who tested, we describe which test they chose (SOC test, supervised self-testing in the clinic, or test kit for home use) and the reason they gave for their choice. We also examine whether participants' testing choice at baseline was associated with picking up a test kit during follow-up.

#### 3.9.4 Description of self-testing observations

For participants who self-tested for HIV at baseline in the clinic with supervision, we describe the steps in the testing process where the participant asked questions or required correction from the healthcare provider, based on the observation form completed by the counselor who supervised the testing process.

#### 3.9.5 Predictors of HIV testing history and HIV test uptake at baseline and followup

We ran crude logistic regression models for four HIV testing outcomes (i.e. ever tested, tested in the past six months, test uptake at baseline and test uptake during follow-up) with a number of demographic variables as well as the attitude and belief scales (examined in the analyses as numeric variables).

We then ran separate multivariable logistic regression models for the HIV testing outcomes, which included all variables. All of these models were also adjusted for each clinic, and the models for HIV testing at baseline and follow-up were also adjusted for randomization arm as potential confounders. Finally, we ran four backward stepwise logistic regression models with a p-value of 0.2 as the criterion for retaining a variable in the model to determine if results from our full multivariable models changed due to a lack of statistical power when including so many covariates in the model.

#### 3.9.6 Predictors of HIV test chosen in the clinic when given a choice

Similarly, we used logistic regression to identify predictors of choosing the oral HIV selftest over the provider-administered blood test in the clinic among participants who tested in the choice arm. We conducted a crude model looking at each demographic, attitudinal and belief scale, as well as HIV risk behavior variable individually, a multivariate model with all the predictors included, and backward stepwise regression using a p value of less than 0.2 as the cut-off for inclusion in the final model.

For these analyses, as well as looking at predictors of HIV testing history and HIV test uptake at baseline and follow-up, we looked at the various attitudinal and belief scales, the construction and reliability of which are described below.

#### 3.9.7 Attitudinal and belief scales

We looked at six different attitudinal and belief scales, calculating a summary score and allowing up to 20% of the items to be left unanswered.

#### Anticipated HIV stigma

We used a nine-item anticipated HIV stigma scale that was adapted from the UNAIDS general population survey and the Department of Health Services AIDS module and had been previously used in Botswana (Weiser et al. 2006). The scale presents nine

statements about possible stigma-related scenarios if the participant was to test positive for HIV and others found out about their status (e.g. "Do you think you would be treated badly by health workers?").

Each item elicited a yes/no response, and the number of yes responses was summed for a possible score of 0–9, with higher scores indicating more anticipated stigma. Seven out of 9 questions had to be answered for the scale to be calculated, and 6 participants missed responses to 1 or 2 items on the scale. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.81, indicating good internal consistency.

#### General self-efficacy

We used a 10-item general self-efficacy scale (Schwarzer and Jerusalem 1995), which had previous multicultural validation in Europe and Asia (Luszczynska et al. 2005), and which presented statements related to participants' belief in their ability to cope with a broad range of stressful or challenging demands (e.g. "I can always manage to solve difficult problems if I try hard enough").

Response options were in a four-point Likert scale from "not at all true" to "exactly true." Responses were summed for a possible score of 10–40, with higher scores indicating greater self-efficacy. We allowed up to one missing item in calculating the summary score, and three participants were missing responses to one item on the scale. Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.89, indicating good to excellent internal consistency.

#### Fatalism

We used a 20-item fatalism scale (Shen et al. 2009) that elicited agreement to a series of fatalistic statements mostly related to health (e.g. "If someone is meant to get a serious disease, it doesn't matter what kinds of food they eat, they will get that disease anyway"). Response options were in a five-point Likert scale, ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree."

Responses were summed for a possible score of 20–100, with higher scores indicating more fatalistic views. We allowed for 2 missing responses in calculating the summary score, and 10 participants were missing responses to 1 or 2 items on the scale. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.93, indicating excellent internal consistency.

#### Gender equity

We used a 24-item gender equity scale (the Gender Equitable Men scale) (Pulerwitz and Barker 2008) that has been widely used in Sub-Saharan Africa (World Health Organization 2012). It consisted of a series of statements related to relationships between men and women (e.g. "There are times when a woman deserves to be beaten"), with response options in a three-point Likert scale consisting of "agree," "partially agree" and "do not agree."

Responses were summed for a possible score of 24–72, with higher scores indicating more gender equitable attitudes. We allowed up to 2 items to be missing in calculating the summary score, and 19 participants were missing responses to 1–2 items on the scale. Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.88, indicating good to excellent internal consistency.

#### Sensation seeking

We used a five-item sensation-seeking scale (Kalichman et al. 1994), previously adapted for use in South Africa (Kalichman et al. 2006, Kalichman et al. 2008), with statements about self-perceived propensity for risk and pleasure seeking (e.g. "I would enjoy the feeling of jumping off a high cliff into a river below").

Responses were elicited on a four-point Likert scale, ranging from "not at all like me" to "very much like me," with a possible score of 5–20 and a higher score indicating greater sensation seeking. We allowed for one missing item in the summary score calculation and one participant was missing a response to one item on the scale. Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.74, indicating good internal consistency. To improve internal consistency, we dropped the first question from the scale.

#### Self-esteem

We used a 10-item self-esteem scale (Rosenberg 1965), which has been widely used globally, including in Sub-Saharan Africa (Schmitt and Allik 2005). The scale consisted of statements about perceived self-esteem (e.g. "I feel that I am a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with others"). Responses were elicited on a four-point Likert scale, ranging from "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree," with reverse coding for five questions, with a possible score of 0–30 and a higher score indicating greater self-esteem.

We allowed for one missing item in the summary score calculation, and one participant was missing a response to one item on the scale. Because this scale was administered at follow-up, there were 21 participants from the original study population who did not have results for this scale, since they did not present for their follow-up interview. Cronbach's alpha for this scale in our sample was 0.88, indicating good to excellent internal consistency.

#### 3.9.8 Discrete choice experiment

Participants were presented with 9–10 choice sets, which contained two alternative HIV testing scenarios. The characteristics (or attributes) of testing in each alternative (shown in Table 1) included location (roadside wellness clinic, clinic near home, at home or at work), biological specimen (finger prick or oral swab), test administrator (nurse or self), counseling (in person or telephone-based), time (20 minutes, 40 minutes, 90 minutes or 3 hours) and cost (free, test costs KES 200, test costs KES 300, an incentive to test of KES 350), each of which varied between the two alternatives in each choice set.

Participants were asked to pick option A or B, depending on which combination of testing attributes they considered most preferable. The 32 statistically designed choice sets were divided into four different questionnaire versions, and participants were randomized to one of the four versions. One of the choice sets was consistent across all four versions of the questionnaire for a reliability check. The discrete choice data was modeled using logistic regression to determine which attributes predict whether a participant chose version A or B. In addition, we looked at interaction between each test attribute and marital status, as well as HIV testing history modeled two ways: as an indicator for ever having tested for HIV; and as an indicator for regular testing among those who had ever tested, defined as having ever tested more than once and the most recent test done in the past six months. When the interaction models were statistically

significant, we re-ran the models stratified on the effect modifier to describe the strength and direction of the effect modification.

#### 3.9.9 Additional notes on quantitative analyses

All statistical tests were two-sided at alpha level of 0.05 and conducted using SPSS version 22 (Chicago, Illinois), SAS 9.4 (Cary, North Carolina: SAS Institute Inc.), or Stata Statistical Software: Release 14 (College Station, Texas: StataCorp LP).

#### 3.9.10 Qualitative data analysis

Three researchers developed coding schemes independently after reviewing 4–5 interview transcripts. The codes were compared, combined and edited in an iterative process until a coding consensus was reached. The three researchers then independently coded four transcripts by hand and compared their coding to ensure that everyone was applying the codes in a similar way. The codes were edited as needed after this process.

The consensus codebook was then loaded into Dedoose version 6.2.21 (SocioCultural Research Consultants, Los Angeles, California) and the transcripts were analyzed by the three researchers by organizing the text within the codes. The coding scheme and the data analysis for this study were guided by the Social-Ecological Model (Bronfenbrenner 1994; Harper et al. 2014) in looking at the facilitators and barriers to HIV testing.

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1 Description of the sample

We screened 319 potential participants, of whom 305 were eligible and willing to participate (see Figure 1). All participants were male and of African race (data not shown). Their mean age was 37.0 years. Nearly two-thirds (64.3%) had not completed secondary school and 27.8% earned less than KES 24,000 per month. Participants had worked as truck drivers for a mean average of 8.7 years and 83.2% reported that the clinic where they were recruited was on their regular route. On average, the participants had spent 21.6 of the past 30 nights away from home due to work. The majority (56.7%) reported that they came to the clinic on the day they were recruited for the study for reasons other than HIV testing (see Table 2).

Table 2: Descriptive statistics for the sample, overall and by randomization arm

Variable	Total	SOC arm, n (%)	Choice arm, n (%)	p-value chi-square test, unless otherwise
				specified
Total	305	155 (50.8%)	150 (49.2%)	NA
Clinic from which				0.787
recruited				
Clinic 1	144 (47.2%)	72 (46.5%)	72 (48.0%)	
Clinic 2	161 (52.8%)	83 (53.5%)	78 (52.0%)	
Age in years				0.989*
Mean (SD)	37.0 (7.9)	36.9 (8.0)	37.2 (7.8)	
Median (range)	36.0 (21–62)	35.0 (21–60)	37.0 (24–62)	
Secondary school				0.417
graduate				
No	196 (64.3%)	103 (66.5%)	93 (62.0%)	
Yes	109 (35.7%)	52 (33.5%)	57 (38.0%)	
Mean trucking				0.074
income per month (KES)				
KES 8,000–15,999	15 (5.2%)	12 (8.1%)	3 (2.1%)	
KES 16,000-23,999	65 (22.6%)	33 (22.3%)	32 (22.9%)	
KES 24,000–55,000	208 (72.2%)	103 (69.6%)	105 (75.0%)	
Years worked as				0.650*
truck driver				
Mean (SD)	8.7 (7.1)	9.0 (7.8)	8.4 (6.3)	
Median (range)	6.7 (1.0–38.9)	6.7 (1.0–38.9)	6.7 (1.0–37.0)	
Clinic is on usual trucking route				0.573
No	51 (16.8%)	24 (15 6%)	27 (18 0%)	
Yes	253 (83 2%)	130 (84 4%)	123 (82 0%)	
Nights away from	200 (00.270)			0 495*
home in past 30				01100
days				
Mean (SD)	21.6 (5.6)	21.3 (5.9)	21.8 (5.3)	
Median (range)	22.5 (0–30)	22.0 (0.0–30.0)	23 (2.0–30.0)	
Came to clinic				0.365
specifically for HIV				
testing				
No	173 (56.7%)	84 (54.2%)	89 (59.3%)	
Yes	132 (43.3%)	71 (45.8%)	61 (40.7%)	
Sexually active in				0.116**
the past 6 months				
No	6 (2.0%)	1 (0.7%)	5 (3.4%)	

Variable	Total	SOC arm, n (%)	Choice arm, n	p-value
			(%)	chi-square
				unless
				otherwise
		450 (00 00()	4.40.(00.00()	specified
Yes	295 (98.0%)	152 (99.3%)	143 (96.6%)	0.000
Married (legal or				0.999
No	51 (16 0%)	26 (16 0%)	25 (16 0%)	
	251 (83 1%)	128 (83 1%)	123 (10.9%)	
Other regular	201 (00.170)	120 (00.170)	123 (03.170)	0.619
sexual partner(s) on				0.010
trucking route				
No	163 (53.4%)	85 (54.8%)	78 (52.0%)	
Yes	142 (46.6%)	70 (45.2%)	72 (48.0%)	
Paid for sex in past				0.7896
6 months				
No	126 (44.1%)	65 (43.3%)	61 (44.9%)	
Yes	160 (55.9%)	85 (56.7%)	75 (55.1%)	
Always used				0.358
condoms when had				
sex in the past 6				
months (among				
those who had sex)				
No	250 (85.9%)	127 (84.1%)	123 (87.9%)	
Yes	41 (14.1%)	24 (15.9%)	17 (12.1%)	0.050
Ever HIV tested			45 (40.00()	0.259
No	25 (8.2%)	10 (6.5%)	15 (10.0%)	
Yes	280 (91.8%)	145 (93.5%)	135 (90.0%)	0.00.4*
Years since last HIV				0.934
who had over				
tested)				
Mean (SD)	1.1 (1.6)	1.0 (1.4)	1.1 (1.9)	
Median (range)	0.5 (0.1–12)	0.5 (0.1–7.4)	0.5 (0.1–12.0)	
Ever self-tested for	,			0.499**
HIV (among those				
who had ever				
tested)				
No	276 (99.3%)	142 (98.6%)	134 100.0%)	
Yes	2 (0.7%)	2 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	
Anticipated stigma				0.034
Mean (SD)	0.65 (1.41)	0.51 (1.27)	0.79 (1.53)	
Median (range)	0.0 (0.0–9.0)	0.00 (0.00–9.00)	0.00 (0.00–9.00)	
Self-efficacy				0.560
Mean (SD)	36.25 (4.89)	35.98 (5.20)	36.54 (4.54)	

Variable	Total	SOC arm, n (%)	Choice arm, n (%)	p-value chi-square test, unless otherwise specified
Median (range)	38.00 (22.00-	38.00 (22.00-	39.00 (22.00-	
	40.00)	40.00)	40.00)	
Fatalism				0.982
Mean (SD)	46.85 (20.69)	46.97 (19.90)	46.73 (21.55)	
Median (range)	48.00 (20.00–	50.00 (20.00-	46.00 (20.00–	
	97.00)	96.00)	97.00)	
Gender equity				0.119
Mean (SD)	59.38 (8.94)	60.36 (8.41)	58.37 (9.37)	
Median (range)	59.00 (32.00-	59.00 (32.00-	59.00 (34.00–	
	72.00)	72.00)	72.00)	
Sensation seeking				0.228
Mean (SD)	5.72 (2.63)	5.90 (2.64)	5.55 (2,42)	
Median (range)	4.0 (3.00–	4.00 (3.00-	4.00 (4,00-	
	15.00)	15.00)	12.00)	
Self-esteem				0.629
Mean (SD)	20.64 (5.54)	20.68 (5.23)	20.60 (5.84)	
Median (range)	19.00 (8.00-	19.00 (12.00-	18.00 (8.00-	
	30.00)	30.00)	30.00)	

\*Mann-Whitney U test.

\*\*Fisher's exact test.

Almost all participants (98.0%) reported being sexually active in the past 6 months. Most (83.1%) were married (either legally or in common law), 46.6% reported that they had one or more other regular partners along their route in addition to a wife or girlfriend at home and 55.9% also reported having paid for sex in the past 6 months. Only 14.1% of participants who had been sexually active in the previous 6 months reported always using condoms during sex in that time.

Nearly all participants (91.8%) reported that they had previously tested for HIV and the mean time since last HIV test was 1.1 years. Only 2 participants (0.7%) reported that they had used an HIV self-test in the past. There were no significant differences in demographics or HIV-related behavior by randomization arm (see Table 2).

Descriptive statistics for the six attitudinal and belief scales (anticipated HIV stigma, self-efficacy, fatalism, gender equity, sensation seeking and self-esteem) are presented in Table 2. There was a significant difference in anticipated stigma score by randomization arm, such that the stigma score was higher among those in the choice arm (mean score 0.79 versus 0.51, p = 0.034) (see Table 2).

#### 4.2 Impact of the intervention

Overall, 233 of the 305 participants (76.4%) accepted HIV testing in the clinic. In the intent-to-treat analysis, those in the choice arm had 1.5 times higher odds of accepting

HIV testing in the clinic compared to those in the SOC arm. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.189). One participant in the choice arm was erroneously only offered the SOC test. When the data was analyzed per protocol by moving this person into the SOC arm, these results did not change (OR = 1.5, p = 0.196) (see Table 3).

	Total, n (%)	SOC arm, n	Choice	Mantel	Mantel	
		(%)	arm, n (%)	Haenszel OR	Haenszel p-	
				(95% CI)	value	
				adjusting for		
<b>T</b> ( 1	005 (1000)			strata		
l otal as	305 (100%)	155 (50.8%)	150 (49.2%)	NA	NA	
randomized	005 (1000)	450 (54 40()	4.40 (40.00()		N/A	
l otal per	305 (100%)	156 (51.1%)	149 (48.9%)	NA	NA	
protocol	ie (intent to th					
Tested in clir		eat analysis)	400 (00 00()		0.400	
Yes	233 (76.4%)	113 (72.9%)	120 (80.0%)	1.5 (0.9–2.7)	0.189	
No	72 (23.5%)	42 (27.1%)	30 (20.0%)	NA	NA	
Tested in clir	nic (per protoco	ol analysis)*				
Yes	233 (76.4%)	114 (73.1%)	119 (79.9%)	1.5 (0.9–2.7)	0.196	
No	72 (23.6%)	42 (26.9%)	30 (20.1%)	NA	NA	
Tested either	in clinic or too	ok test kit for l	nome use at b	aseline (intent-to	o-treat	
analysis)		1				
Yes	244 (80.0%)	113 (72.9%)	131 (87.3%)	2.8 (1.5–5.4)	0.002	
No	61 (20.0%)	42 (27.1%)	19 (12.7%)			
<b>Tested either</b>	in clinic or too	ok test kit for l	nome use at b	aseline (per prot	ocol	
analysis)*						
Yes	244 (80.0%)	114 (73.1%)	130 (87.2%)	2.8 (1.5–5.4)	0.002	
No	61 (20.0%)	42 (26.9%)	19 (12.8%)	NA	NA	
Total with 6-	284 (100%)	142 (50.0%)	142 (50.0%)			
month						
follow-up						
data						
Tested at 6 month follow-up (intent-to-treat analysis)						
Yes	159 (56.0%)	79 (55.5%)	80 (56.3%)	1.0 (0.6–1.5)	0.972	
No	125 (44.0%)	63 (44.4%)	62 (43.7%)	NA	NA	
Tested at 6 m	onth follow-up	o (per protoco	l analysis)*			
Yes	159 (56.0%)	79 (55.2%)	80 (56.7%)	0.9 (0.6–1.5)	0.872	
No	125 (44.0%)	64 (44.8%)	61 (43.3%)	NA	NA	

Table 3: HIV test uptake overall and by arm under intent-to-treat and per protocol status

\*One participant in the choice arm was only offered the SOC HIV test at baseline. Per protocol refers to what was actually offered so that individual is analyzed in the SOC arm in the per protocol analysis.

An additional 11 participants in the choice arm accepted HIV testing when offered a test kit for use outside of the clinic after refusing testing in the clinic, bringing the total number tested to 244 out of 305 (80.0%). When including self-testing outside of the clinic, those in the choice arm had 2.8 times the odds of accepting HIV testing at baseline compared to those in the SOC arm, and the difference was statistically significant (p = 0.002). In the per protocol analysis, these results did not change (OR = 2.8, p = 0.002). One participant who took a test kit for use outside of the clinic later returned to the clinic to take the test with supervision (see Table 3).

We also ran the analysis adjusting for anticipated stigma, the one participant characteristic that varied significantly by randomization arm. The results were similar (testing in the clinic OR = 1.6, p = 0.139; tested at baseline, including taking a test kit for home use, OR = 3.0, p = 0.001) (data not shown).

Twenty-five participants reported never having been tested. Among the 15 of these participants in the choice arm, 11 (73.3%) tested as part of this study compared to only 5 of the 10 (50.0%) in the SOC arm, with an OR = 4.2 (p = 0.280) after adjusting for clinic. Of the 15 in the choice arm who tested, 4 (35.3%) chose the SOC test, 6 (54.5%) chose supervised self-testing in the clinic and 1 (0.9%) took a test kit to use outside of the clinic (data not shown).

At the 6-month follow-up, 13 participants were lost to follow-up in the SOC arm and 8 were lost to follow-up in the choice arm. In the intent-to-treat analysis, there was no significant association between randomization arm and testing uptake (OR = 1.0, p = 0.972). The results were similar in the per protocol analysis (OR = 0.9, p = 0.872) (see Table 3), and when adjusting for anticipated HIV stigma and clinic (OR = 1.0, p = 0.889) (data not shown).

Among all participants, those who had not tested for HIV at baseline were more likely to test during the follow-up period (63.4% versus 54.2%), but the difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.236). Of the 80 participants in the choice arm who tested during follow-up, 18 (22.5%) did so using a self-test. Choice arm participants who had not tested at baseline were more likely to test during follow-up, although the difference was not significant (68.4% of non-testers versus 44.1% of those who were tested by the healthcare provider, 59.0% among those who self-tested in the clinic with supervision and 54.5% among those who took a test kit for home use at baseline tested during follow-up, p = 0.330).

Among participants who tested for HIV during follow-up, those who had self-tested at baseline were more likely to pick up a self-test kit during follow-up, but the difference was not significant (26.1% of those who self-tested in the clinic and 33.3% of those who took a self-test kit for home use at baseline versus 20.0% of those who were tested by the healthcare provider at baseline and 7.7% of those who did not test at baseline picked up a self-test kit during follow-up, p = 0.488) (see Table 4). Of these participants, 3 (16.7%) used the test at the clinic under supervision. One of the three had refused testing at baseline, one had undergone a supervised self-test at baseline and one had taken a test kit for home use at baseline (data not shown).

Table 4: Association between test selected at baseline and testing over six-month
follow-up

Baseline		Tested at follow-up			Picked up a self-test kit		
testing				-	(among those who tested		
_					at follow	-up)	
	Total	Yes	No	Fisher's	Yes	No	Fisher's
				exact p-			exact p-
				value			value
Tested at				0.236			
baseline,							
total sample							
(n = 284)							
Yes	227	123	104		NA	NA	NA
	(79.9%)	(54.2%)	(45.8%)				
No	57	36	21		NA	NA	
	(20.1%)	(63.2%)	(36.8%)				
Tested at				0.324			0.278
baseline,							
choice arm							
(n = 142)							
Yes	123	67	56		17	50	
	(86.6%)	(54.5%)	(45.5%)		(25.4%)	(74.6%)	
No	19	13	6		1	12	
	(13.3%)	(68.4%)	(31.5%)		(7.7%)	(92.3%)	
Test used at							
baseline,							
choice arm							
participants							
with follow-							
up data							
No test	19	13	6	0.337	1	12	0.487
		(68.4%)	(31.6%)		(7.7%)	(92.3%)	
Provider-	34	15	19		3	12	
administered		(44.1%)	(55.9%)		(20.0%)	(80.0%)	
blood test							
Supervised	78	46	32		12	34	
oral self-test		(59.0%)	(41.0%)		(26.1%)	(73.9%)	
Oral self-test	11	6	5		3	4	
kit taken for		(54.5%)	(45.5%)		(33.3%)	(66.7%)	
home use							
Total	142	80	62		18	62	
		(56.3%)	(43.7%)		(22.6%)	(77.5%)	

Two participants tested positive for HIV at baseline and both were in the SOC arm. They both reported having gotten confirmatory testing at the follow-up interview but did not report having received any other HIV-related care. One of the two who tested positive at baseline requested new referrals at follow-up. None of the participants tested positive at

follow-up based on participant reports. All of the participants in the choice arm who selftested at baseline or follow-up disclosed their test results to the counselor, and all of those test results were negative (based on the counselor's observation for those who self-tested in the clinic or participant self-reporting for those who tested outside of the clinic) (data not shown).

#### 4.3 Reasons for HIV test selected at baseline by those in the choice arm

Of the 130 participants offered a choice in testing methods who tested at baseline, 35 (26.9%) chose the SOC test, 84 (64.6%) chose supervised self-testing in the clinic and another 11 (8.5%) took a test kit for use outside of the clinic. Participants who chose the SOC test most commonly reported doing so because they preferred a healthcare provider to administer or interpret the test for them (80.0%), they preferred a blood test over an oral test (60.0%), that they were not confident they could self-administer the test correctly (17.1%), or they trusted that the healthcare provider could administer the test correctly (14.3%).

Among participants who chose supervised self-testing in the clinic, the most commonly cited reasons for this choice were that they were curious to try the new test (89.3%), they felt confident that they could administer the test correctly themselves (25.0%), they preferred to administer the test themselves (15.5%) and that they preferred an oral test (15.5%).

Among participants who took a test kit for use outside of the clinic, the most common reasons mentioned for this choice were that they preferred to administer the test themselves (90.9%); felt confident that they could administer the test correctly themselves (45.5%); preferred to be with their partner, family or friends when testing (45.5%) or preferred to be alone when testing (36.4%); preferred an oral test (27.3%); or that they did not have time to test in the clinic (27.3%) (see Table 5).

Reason for test selected	SOC test, n (%)	Supervised rapid oral self- test in the clinic, n (%)	Rapid oral HIV self-test taken for home use, n (%)
Total	35 (26.9%)	84 (64.6%)	11 (8.5%)
Prefer provider to	28 (80.0%)	NA	NA
administer/interpret the test			
Prefer to administer/interpret the test	NA	13 (15.5%)	10 (0.9%)
myself			
Trust the provider can administer	5 (14.3%)	NA	NA
the test correctly			
Do not trust the provider to	NA	1 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)
administer/interpret the test correctly			
Not confident that I could do the test	6 (17.1%)	NA	NA
correctly myself			

## Table 5: HIV test used at baseline and reason given for test choice (choice arm, of those who tested, n = 130)

Reason for test selected	SOC test, n	Supervised	Rapid oral HIV	
	(%)	rapid oral self-	self-test taken	
		test in the	for home use, n	
		clinic, n (%)	(%)	
Feel confident that I can administer	NA	21 (25.0%)	5 (45.5%)	
the test myself correctly				
Trust the provider to keep the	4 (11.4%)	NA	NA	
results confidential				
Do not trust the provider to keep the	NA	1 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	
results confidential				
Prefer to be the only one who knows	NA	1 (1.2%)	1 (9.1%)	
my results				
Prefer to have someone with me	1 (2.9%)	NA	NA	
when testing				
Prefer to be alone when testing	NA	1 (1.2%)	4 (36.4%)	
Prefer to be with a partner or loved	NA	NA	5 (45.5%)	
one when testing				
Feel uncomfortable in clinic settings	NA	NA	1 (9.1%)	
Prefer a blood test	21 (60.0%)	NA	NA	
Prefer an oral test	NA	13 (15.5%)	3 (27.3%)	
Wanted to try the new test/curious	NA	75 (89.3%)	0 (0%)	
about the new test				
Did not have time to stay at the	NA	NA	3 (27.3%)	
clinic to test				

#### 4.4 Self-test steps where participants had questions or needed correction

Based on the observation checklist completed by the HTC counselor supervising the 84 participants who chose the oral HIV self-test at baseline, more than half of participants (52.4%) completed the self-testing process without asking questions or needing correction, while 47.6% asked questions during the self-testing and 13.1% also needed the healthcare provider to intervene with correction when they were doing something wrong and did not ask for instruction (all those requiring correction also asked questions at other steps).

Steps where participants were more likely to need correction included waiting for the full 20 minutes before reading the test result (6.2%) and correctly interpreting the test result (5.0%). Note that all the tests were negative. At each step, about 20–30% of participants asked questions, most commonly about how to open the package and remove the materials (30.9%); how to locate and remove the testing swab without touching it (30.8%); the need to wait 20 minutes before viewing the test result (30.9%); and interpreting the test result (30.0%) (see Table 6).

Almost all of the participants (97.4%) asked the healthcare provider to stay and view their test results with them, while a few (2.6%) viewed the results themselves but then disclosed the result during post-test counseling (data not shown) (Kelvin et al. 2017).

	Tested correctly	Tested correctly but	Needed correction
	alone	asked	during
		questions	test
Total (all participants who needed	44 (52.4%)	40 (47.6%)	11 (13.1%)
correction also asked questions so			
<i>total</i> = >84)			
Looked at instructions provided	60 (73.2%)	22 (26.8%)	0 (0.0%)
Opened package and removed	54 (66.7%)	25 (30.9%)	2 (2.5%)
materials (3 missing)			
Removed cap on test tube (3 missing)	56 (69.1%)	24 (29.6%)	1 (1.2%)
Placed test tub in holder (3 missing)	58 (71.8%)	22 (27.2%)	1 (1.2%)
Located and removed the testing	52 (66.7%)	24 (30.8%)	2 (2.6%)
swab without touching it (6 missing)			
Collected oral sample (3 missing)	55 (67.9%)	23 (28.4%)	3 (3.7%)
Inserted swab into test tube (3	55 (67.9%)	24 (29.6%)	2 (2.5%)
missing)			
Waited 20 minutes before reviewing	51 (63.0%)	25 (30.9%)	5 (6.2%)
for results (3 missing)			
Interpreted test correctly (4 missing)	52 (65.0%)	24 (30.0)	4 (5.0%)

Table 6: Self-test steps where participants had questions or needed correction\*

\*n = 84. Multiple responses accepted so total is more than 84

#### 4.5 Other predictors of HIV testing

Anticipated HIV stigma (OR 0.73; p = 0.002) was significantly associated with lower odds of participants ever testing for HIV in crude models. Self-esteem score (OR 1.11; p = 0.029), Catholic religion (OR 7.86; p = 0.047) and self-reporting as married (OR 2.56; p = 0.041) were significantly associated with greater odds of ever testing for HIV in crude models. In the multivariable model, anticipated HIV stigma remained significant (OR 0.70; p = 0.010), and "other" religion (OR 0.12; p = 0.029) and number of years worked as a truck driver (OR 0.89; p = 0.034) were significantly associated with lower odds of having ever tested for HIV.

In crude models, only sensation seeking (OR 0.89; p = 0.039) was significantly associated with lower odds of having tested for HIV in the previous 3 months. In the multivariable model, Catholic religion (OR 0.43; p = 0.048) was significantly associated with lower odds of HIV testing in the previous 3 months, and self-esteem (OR 1.09; p = 0.014) was associated with greater odds of having tested in the previous 3 months (see Table 7).

	Ever tested for HIV			Tested for HIV in past 3 months		
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multivariable	Stepwise
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model		model <sup>a</sup>	multivariable model
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value
		n = 258	n = 258		n = 258	n = 258
Anticipated	n = 305	—	—	n = 305	—	—
HIV stigma						
	0.73 (0.60, 0.89)	0.70 (0.54, 0.91)	0.66 (0.52, 0.85)	0.94 (0.78, 1.15)	0.84 (0.66, 1.06)	0.84 (0.67, 1.06)
	p = 0.002	p = 0.008	p = 0.001	p = 0.560	p = 0.135	p = 0.139
Self-efficacy	n = 305		—	n = 305	—	_
	0.97 (0.89, 1.06)	0.96 (0.83, 1.12)	—	1.05 (0.99, 1.11)	0.99 (0.91, 1.08)	_
	p = 0.504	p = 0.599		p = 0.129	p = 0.801	
Fatalism	n = 305		—	n = 305	—	_
	0.98 (0.96, 1.00)	0.99 (0.96, 1.03)	—	1.0 (0.99, 1.01)	1.00 (0.98, 1.02)	_
	p = 0.060	p = 0.694		p = 0.933	p = 0.953	
Gender	n = 305	—	—	n = 305	—	
equity						
	1.00 (0.95, 1.05)	0.99 (0.96, 1.03)	—	1.02 (0.99, 1.05)	1.01 (0.97, 1.06)	
	p = 0.972	p = 0.861		p = 0.175	p = 0.570	
Sensation	n = 305	—		n = 305	—	
seeking						
	1.08 (0.90, 1.30)	0.98 (0.74, 1.29)	—	0.89 (0.79, 0.99)	0.98 (0.84, 1.15)	
	p = 0.403	p = 0.870		p = 0.039	p = 0.824	
Self-esteem	n = 284	—	—	n = 284	—	
	1.11 (1.01, 1.23)	1.08 (0.93, 1.24)		0.99 (0.95, 1.04)	1.09 (1.02, 1.17)	1.09 (1.02, 1.16)
	p = 0.029	p = 0.297		p = 0.751	p = 0.014	p = 0.010

 Table 7: Association between scales and demographic variables with HIV testing history

	Ever tested for HIV			Tested for HIV in past 3 months		
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multivariable	Stepwise
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model		model <sup>a</sup>	multivariable model
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value
Age	n = 305		_	n = 305		
	1.05 (0.99, 1.11)	1.13 (1.00, 1.27)	_	0.99 (0.96, 1.02)	0.98 (0.93, 1.03)	
	p = 0.115	p = 0.053		p = 0.511	p = 0.485	
Religion	n = 299	—	_	n = 299	—	
Protestant	—	—	_	—	—	_
(Ref)						
Catholic	7.86 (1.03, 60.21)	4.44 (0.50, 39.66)	6.92 (0.81, 59.03)	0.62 (0.31, 1.21);	0.43 (0.19, 0.99)	0.45 (0.20, 1.02)
	p = 0.047	p = 0.182	p = 0.077	p = 0.159	p = 0.048	p = 0.088
Muslim	1.53 (0.49, 4.76)	3.61 (0.72, 18.11)	3.61 (0.82, 15.92)	0.79 (0.39, 1.57)	0.51 (0.23, 1.14)	0.51 (0.24, 1.11)
	p = 0.461	p = 0.118	p = 0.090	p = 0.496	p = 0.130	p = 0.159
Other <sup>b</sup>	0.23 (0.05, 1.01)	0.12, 0.02, 0.80)	0.21 (0.04, 1.05)	0.69 (0.14, 3.44)	0.26 (0.04, 1.50)	0.30 (0.06, 1.61)
	p = 0.052	p = 0.029	p = 0.057	p = 0.652	p = 0.130	p = 0.159
Secondary	n = 305			n = 305		
school						
graduate						
Yes	0.69 (0.30, 1.57)	0.76 (0.24, 2.40)	_	1.42 (0.84, 2.40)	1.18 (0.62, 2.27)	
	p = 0.370	p = 0.637		p = 0.195	p = 0.611	
No (Ref)		—	_		—	
Married	n = 302		—	n = 302		_
Yes	2.56 (1.04, 6.31)	3.05 (0.83, 11.29);	3.66 (1.19, 11.22)	1.35 (0.66, 2.78)	1.79 (0.69, 4.65)	_
	p=0.041	p = 0.095	p = 0.023	p = 0.415	p = 0.230	
No (Ref)	—	—	—		—	—

	Ever tested for HIV			Tested for HIV in past 3 months		
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multivariable	Stepwise
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model		model <sup>a</sup>	multivariable model
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value
Mean	n = 288		—	n = 288	—	
trucking						
income per						
month						
KES≤24,000	—	—	—	—		
(Ref)						
KES>24,000	1.52 (0.64, 3.60)	2.23 (0.68, 7.33)	—	1.62 (0.87, 3.03)	1.37 (0.65, 2.90)	
	p = 0.340	p = 0.185		p = 0.130	p = 0.409	
Years	n = 305	—	—	n = 305		
worked as a						
truck driver						
	0.98 (0.93, 1.04)	0.89 (0.80, 0.99)	—	1.01 (0.98, 1.05)	1.01 (0.95, 1.06)	—
	p = 0.528	p = 0.034		p = 0.564	p = 0.840	

<sup>a</sup>Models also adjusted for clinic location (data not shown).

<sup>b</sup>"Other" religion includes Hindu, traditional African and no religion.

In crude models, gender equity (OR 0.96; p = 0.032) was significantly associated with lower odds of accepting testing at baseline and sensation seeking was associated with greater odds of accepting testing at baseline (OR 1.14; p = 0.049). In the multivariable model, no variables were significant. In crude models, secondary school completion or higher (OR 1.78; p = 0.023) was significantly associated with greater odds of testing during follow-up. In the multivariable model, secondary school education (OR 2.37; p = 0.004) and self-esteem (OR 1.06; p = 0.045) were significantly associated with greater odds of testing during follow-up and Muslim religion (OR 0.4; p = 0.013) was associated with lower odds of testing during follow-up (see Table 8).
Table 8: Logistic regression models evaluating the association between scales and demographic variables with HIV testing at baseline and follow-up

	Accepted HIV testing at baseline			Tested for HIV during follow-up			
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>b</sup>		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>c</sup>	
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	
		n = 258	n = 258		n = 258	n = 258	
Anticipated	n = 305	—	—	n = 284	_	—	
HIV stigma							
	0.86 (0.73, 1.03)	0.89 (0.71, 1.11)	—	1.03 (0.87, 1.21)	1.03 (0.85, 1.23)		
	p = 0.103	p = 0.291		p = 0.725	p = 0.786		
Self-efficacy	n = 305	—	—	n = 284	_		
	0.96 (0.90, 1.02)	1.03 (0.94, 1.14)	—	1.02 (0.97, 1.07)	0.99 (0.92, 1.06)		
	p = 0.204	p = 0.506		p = 0.567	p = 0.728		
Fatalism	n = 305	—	—	n = 284	_		
	1.00 (0.99, 1.01)	1.01 (0.99, 1.04)	1.02 (1.00, 1.04)	1.00 (0.99, 1.01)	1.00 (0.92, 1.02)	—	
	p = 0.972	p = 0.400	p = 0.126	p = 0.546	p = 0.972		
Gender	n = 305	—	—	n = 284		—	
equity							
	0.96 (0.93, 1.00)	0.98 (0.93, 1.03)	—	1.00 (0.98, 1.03)	0.97 (0.94, 1.01)	0.97 (0.94, 1.00)	
	p = 0.032	p = 0.403		p = 0.994	p = 0.164	p = 0.061	
Sensation	n = 305	—	—	n = 284		—	
seeking							
	1.14 (1.00, 1.30)	0.99 (0.82, 1.18)	_	0.95, 0.86, 1.04)	0.94 (0.92, 1.06)	0.92 (0.83, 1.03)	
	p = 0.049	p = 0.884		p = 0.249	p = 0.354	p = 0.144	
Self-esteem	n = 284			n = 284			

	Accepted HIV testing at baseline			Tested for HIV during follow-up			
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>b</sup>		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>c</sup>	
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	
	1.02 (0.97, 1.08)	0.95 (0.88, 1.03)	0.94 (0.87, 1.02)	1.03 (0.98, 1.07)	1.06 (1.00, 1.13)	1.05 (1.00, 1.10)	
	p = 0.430	p = 0.232	p = 0.144	p = 0.226	p = 0.045	p = 0.070	
Age	n = 305	—		n = 284	_	—	
	1.01 (0.97, 1.05)	0.97 (0.91, 1.04)		1.01 (0.98, 1.04)	1.01 (0.97, 1.06)	—	
	p = 0.676	p = 0.379		p = 0.401	p = 0.673		
Religion	n = 299	—		n = 279	_	—	
Protestant	—	—		—	_	—	
(Ref)							
Catholic	1.20 (0.58, 2.48)	0.97 (0.37, 2.52)	_	1.04 (0.58, 1.88)	1.17 (0.60, 2.26)	1.08 (0.56, 2.06)	
	p = 0.630	p = 0.952		p = 0.886	p = 0.642	p = 0.827	
Muslim	1.05 (0.48, 2.25)	1.60 (0.61, 4.23)		0.54 (0.29, 1.02)	0.39 (0.19, 0.82)	0.41 (0.20, 0.82)	
	p = 0.893	p = 0.341		p = 0.057	p = 0.013	p = 0.012	
Other <sup>d</sup>	0.32 (0.08, 1.24)	0.71 (0.13, 3.86)	_	1.41 (0.34, 5.85)	1.15 (0.24, 5.40)	1.28 (0.30, 5.50)	
	p = 0.098	p = 0.689		p = 0.637	p = 0.863	p = 0.744	
Secondary	n = 305	—	_	n = 294	_	—	
school							
graduate							
Yes	0.82 (0.46, 1.47)	1.05 (0.99, 1.14)		1.78 (1.08, 2.92)	2.37 (1.31, 4.27)	2.28 (1.31, 3.97)	
	p = 0.511	p = 0.907		p = 0.023	p = 0.004	p = 0.004	
No (Ref)	—					_	
Married	n = 302	—		n = 282		_	
Yes	1.01 (0.47, 2.15)	0.72 (0.24, 2.14)		0.99 (0.53, 1.85)	0.83 (0.38, 1.83)	—	
	p = 0.989	p = 0.550		p = 0.973	p = 0.650		
No (Ref)							

	Accepted HIV testing at baseline			Tested for HIV during follow-up			
	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	Crude models	Multi-variable	Stepwise multi-	
		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>b</sup>		model <sup>a</sup>	variable model <sup>c</sup>	
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	
Mean	n = 288	—	—	n = 268	_	—	
trucking							
income per							
month							
KES≤24,000	—	—	—		—	—	
(Ref)							
KES>24,000	0.59 (0.29, 1.18)	0.77 (0.32, 1.88)	—	1.06 (0.61, 1.83)	0.92 (0.48, 1.74)	—	
	p = 0.134	p = 0.567		p = 0.837	p = 0.789		
Years	n = 302	—	—	n = 281	_	—	
worked as a							
truck driver							
	1.02 (0.97, 1.06)	1.06 (0.99, .14)	1.04 (0.99, 1.09)	1.02 (0.99, 1.06)	1.02 (0.97, 1.07)	—	
	p = 0.454	p = 0.124	p = 0.166	p = 0.212	p = 0.497		

<sup>a</sup>Models also adjusted for the randomization group and randomization assignment (data not shown).

<sup>b</sup>Randomization group and clinic location were included in the final model.

<sup>c</sup>Randomization group and clinic location were not included in the final model.

<sup>d</sup>"Other" religion includes Hindu, traditional African and no religion.

In re-running our multivariable regression models using stepwise regression, our overall results remained consistent. For having ever tested for HIV, anticipated HIV stigma (OR 0.66 p = 0.001) remained significantly associated with lower odds of having ever tested, but unlike the main model, other religion (OR 0.21; p = 0.057) was no longer significant and self-reporting as married (OR 3.66; p = 0.023) was significantly associated with greater odds of having ever tested.

Self-esteem (OR 1.09; p = 0.010) remained significantly associated with greater odds of having tested for HIV in the past three months (see Table 7). No variables were significantly associated with accepting testing at baseline. For having tested during follow-up, self-esteem was no longer significantly associated (OR 1.05; p = 0.07) but Muslim religion (OR 0.41; p = 0.012) and secondary school education (OR 2.28; p = 0.004) remained significant (see Table 8).

#### 4.6 Predictors of HIV test selected when given a choice

In the crude models, among choice arm participants who tested in the clinic, which test they selected was significantly associated with their alcohol consumption and fatalism scale score. Those who had consumed alcohol in the past year had 2.3 times the odds of choosing the self-test over the provider-administered test compared to those who had not consumed alcohol in the past year (p = 0.041). For each additional unit on the fatalism scale score, the odds of choosing the self-test was 0.98 times lower (p = 0.024).

Consistent condom use and higher general self-efficacy scale scores were both associated with participants having lower odds of selecting the self-test but the associations were only of borderline significance (OR = 0.4, p = 0.120 and OR = 0.9, p = 0.135). In the multivariate model, with all variables included, only scores on the fatalism scale were significantly associated with selecting the self-test over the healthcare provider-administered test (OR = 0.96, p = 0.030), although the association with self-efficacy (OR = 0.9, p = 0.077) and consistent condom use were at borderline significance (OR = 0.2, p = 0.100).

In the backwards-stepwise regression model, only participants' fatalism score, general self-efficacy score and consistent condom use remained in the final model (OR = 0.97, p = 0.003, OR = 0.8, p = 0.008 and OR = 0.3, p = 0.081, respectively) (see Table 9).(Kelvin et al. 2017)

# Table 9: Demographics and risk behaviors as predictors of selecting the oral HIV self-test (versus the healthcare provideradministered blood test) among those who tested

	Crude r	nodels		Adjusted model (n = 98)Likelihood ratio backward step regression with p = <0.2 for remaining in the model) (n = 98)		backward stepwise p = <0.2 for model) (n = 98)	
Variable	Number	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Age (years)	119	1.0 (1.0–1.07)	0.624	1.0 (0.9–1.1)	0.488		
Secondary school	119	0.9 (0.4–2.0)	0.751	0.7 (0.2–2.3)	0.601		
graduate							
Income from truck driving	109	1.0 (0.4–2.5)	0.969	1.2 (0.3–4.4)	0.748		
> KES 24,000 per month							
Married	118	1.8 (0.7–4.8)	0.270	0.5 (0.1–5.2)	0.551		
Have regular partner/s	117	1.5 (0.7–3.4)	0.322	1.7 (0.5–5.70	0.421		
on trucking route in past							
6 months (road wife)							
Paid for sex in past 6	113	1.3 (0.6–3.0)	0.481	0.8 (0.2–3.0)	0.731		
months							
Always use condoms	114	0.4 (0.2–1.2)	0.120	0.2 (0.02–1.4)	0.100	0.3 (0.1–1.1)	0.081
Drank alcohol in past	119	2.3 (1.0–5.2)	0.041	1.4 (0.5–4.1)	0.523		
year							
Ever tested for HIV	119	1.7 (0.4–6.4)	0.447	NA	NA		
Years since tested for	116	1.0 (1.0–1.0)	0.531	1.0 (1.0–1.1)	0.322		
HIV							
Anticipated HIV stigma	119	0.9 (0.7–1.1)	0.224	0.8 (0.5–1.2)	0.289		
Fatalism	119	0.98 (0.96–0.99)	0.024	0.96 (0.93–0.0.99)	0.030	0.97 (0.94–0.99)	0.003
General self-efficacy	119	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.135	0.9 (0.7–1.0)	0.077	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.008
Gender equity	119	1.0 (1.0–1.1)	0.214	0.98 (0.90–1.07)	0.692		
Sensation seeking	119	1.5 (0.8–3.0)	0.219	1.4 (0.5–4.1)	0.560		

# 4.7 Discrete choice experiment results

Preferences in the discrete choice experiment were analyzed in comparison to a baseline or reference scenario (HIV test that is blood-based, nurse administered, in a roadside wellness clinic, with in-person counseling, taking about 90 minutes total, free).

We found that participants had a significant preference for in-person counseling over telephone-based counseling (OR for telephone-based counseling = 0.9, p = 0.003), testing at a roadside clinic over testing at company office (OR for testing at the office = 0.8, p = 0.010), tests that take less time (20 minutes versus 90 minutes OR = 1.2, p = 0.034; 3 hours versus 90 minutes OR = 0.8, p = 0.001), and tests that are free versus those with any cost to the participant (KES 200 versus free OR = 0.6, p = <0.001; KES 300 versus free OR = 0.4, p = <0.001), and even over receiving payment, although this difference is only weakly significant (KES 350 payment versus free OR = 0.9, p = 0.056) (see Table 10).

		Main effects				
Attribute	Level	OR (95% CI)	p-value			
Type of counseling Baseline: one-on-one	Telephone-based counseling	0.9 (0.81–0.96)	0.003			
Who administers the test Baseline: nurse administered	Self-administered	1.0 (0.91–1.07)	0.726			
Type of test Baseline: finger prick test	Oral mouth swab test	1.0 (0.90–1.06)	0.583			
	At home	0.9 (0.75–1.00)	0.051			
Location Baseline: roadside clinic	At a clinic near home	0.9 (0.77–1.07)	0.257			
	At the company office	0.8 (0.71–0.95)	0.010			
Time	20 minutes	1.2 (1.01–1.36)	0.034			
Rasolino: 90 min	40 minutes	1.0 (0.81–1.14)	0.637			
	3 hours	0.8 (0.67–0.90)	0.001			
Cost	You pay KES 200	0.6 (0.49–0.65)	< 0.001			
Cusi Baseline: free	You pay KES 300	0.4 (0.30–0.42)	< 0.001			
	We pay KES 350	0.9 (0.75–1.00)	0.056			
Number of observations	4,828					
Log likelihood	-1,558.694					
Pseudo R-squared	0.068					

## Table 10: Discrete choice experiment results

There was significant interaction between participants ever having tested and their preferred form of counseling (interaction p = <0.001) and biological specimen used (interaction p = 0.006).

Among participants who had never been tested for HIV, there was a strong preference for telephone-based counseling (OR for telephone-based versus in-person counseling = 2.0, p = < 0.001) while among those who had tested before there was a preference for

in-person counseling (OR for telephone-based versus in-person counseling = 0.8, p = < 0.001). Among those who had never previously tested for HIV, there was a preference for an oral swab test over a finger prick (OR = 1.6, p = 0.009) while among those who had tested before there was no preference regarding the biological specimen used (OR = 1.0, p = 0.400) (see Figure 2a).

There was also a significant divergence of preferences for participants who were regular (having tested in the past 6 months and more than once) and non-regular HIV testers regarding their preferred type of counseling (interaction p = 0.021), location of the test (home versus roadside wellness clinic interaction p = 0.019; clinic near home versus roadside wellness clinic interaction p = 0.071; workplace versus roadside wellness clinic interaction p = 0.004).

For non-regular HIV testers, all significant odds ratios favored the baseline or reference test, with in-person counseling preferred over telephone-based counseling (OR = 0.7, p = <0.001), a test at a roadside clinic preferred over testing at home (OR = 0. 7, p = 0.003), at a clinic near home (OR = 0.7, p = 0.031) or at the company office (OR = 0.6, p = <0.001), and a free test preferred over one they would have to pay for (KES 250 OR = 0.5, p = <0.001; KES 300 OR = 0.3, p = <0.001).

Regular HIV testers were indifferent between service delivery characteristics for every attribute except time and money, with the odds of choosing a test that would take three hours significantly lower than a 90-minute test (OR 0.7, p = <0.001), and a test that would cost even a small fee significantly less preferable than a free test (KES 250 OR = 0.6, p = <0.001; KES 300 OR = 0.4, p = <0.001) (see Figure 2b).

There was a significant interaction between participants' marital status and counseling preference (interaction p = 0.042), biological specimen used (interaction p = <0.001) and cost of the HIV test (interaction p-value for pay KES 250 versus free = 0.001, for pay KES 300 versus free p = <0.001) (data not shown).

Among married men, there was a preference for in-person counseling (OR phone versus in-person = 0.7, p = <0.001), while among unmarried men there was no preference (OR phone versus in-person = 1.0m p = 0.956). Among married participants, there was a preference for oral versus blood-based testing (OR = 1.2, p = 0.008), while among unmarried men the preference was reversed (OR = 0.8, p = 0.001). Finally, among married men, the preference for a free test was weaker (OR for paying KES 250 versus free = 0.7, p = 0.008, OR for paying KES 300 = 0.5. p = <0.001, OR for being paid KES 350 = 0.9, p = 0.548), while among those not married the preference for a free test was stronger (OR = 0.4, p = <0.001, OR = 0.2, p = <0.001, OR = 0.8, p = 0.036, respectively) (see Figure 2c).



#### Figure 2: Discrete choice experiment results – stratified models by HIV testing history and marital status

### 4.8 In-depth interview results

We conducted 16 in-depth interviews with participants who refused HIV testing at baseline, 11 participants in the SOC arm and five in the choice arm. As noted above, we conducted 20 in-depth interviews at baseline. After data cleaning, we found that four had tested for HIV, and were therefore ineligible for the in-depth interview and were excluded from this analysis. We also conducted in-depth interviews with eight participants in the choice arm, who were eligible to pick up a self-test kit for home use at any of the eight North Star Alliance clinics in Kenya during follow-up, but who did not test over the sixmonth follow-up period. A ninth participant interviewed for an in-depth interview at follow-up was later found to have been ineligible as he was in the SOC arm.

The mean age of the participants we interviewed in-depth was 37.3 years, and all reported that they had tested for HIV at some point before being recruited into the study. All of the eight participants in the choice arm interviewed at follow-up had tested at baseline (four had self-tested in the clinic with provider supervision and four had selected the provider-administered blood test). The mean time since last testing for HIV for those interviewed following baseline was 1.6 years, with a range of less than 1 month to more than 7 years since their last test.

We first present an overview of participants' beliefs and attitudes about HIV testing in general, their risk perception and beliefs regarding the benefits of antiretroviral (ARV) treatment for HIV and the impact that testing may have on their sense of masculinity or manhood. We then looked at recent barriers (in the previous three months) to clinic-based, provider-administered HIV testing reported by participants and we describe in greater detail the participants' perspectives on self-testing.

Although we attempted to explore differences in these domains by study arm, the small sample, uneven distribution of variables by study arm and the fact that the interviewers did not all address these issues in a standard manner precludes our ability to make any definitive conclusions about group differences, and thus their interpretation should be viewed with caution.

#### 4.8.1 Importance of HIV testing

Interview participants generally felt that HIV testing was important for their health and their ability to protect and support their family:

It [HIV testing] is very important because if I have a family, I have to think about my life and how my status is. — Participant 4154, choice arm

It [HIV testing] is important so that you may be able to know how to live from that time henceforth so that you may not go ahead to be infected but take precautions. If you are married, then you have to make sure that your spouse is protected. Once you know your status, if you love your spouse and your family, then you would take necessary precautions to ensure that they are safe. — Participant 9012, choice arm follow-up

Most participants reported having had positive experiences when they tested in the past:

Everything [during testing] was good actually. I mean, there is nothing I did not like, I liked everything there. There is nothing that displeased me. The whole environment was good. — Participant 5016, choice arm

OK, up until now I think they are conducted [testing] well. Maybe the government could improve. They should improve a little bit. Make it a little easier and faster. If someone goes there, he is attended to faster. — Participant 4071, SOC arm

I have always liked the testing services. — Participant 5119, SOC arm

However, lack of privacy was a complaint among a few interview participants:

Interviewer: "What are some of the things you did not like when you went for testing, maybe the nurses?"

Being given the results in public. I prefer someone being taken aside. — Participant 4016, SOC arm

Many clinics that I know, you find maybe the place where the health provider is and where the patients are seated are so close to each other that when you speak, people can hear you out there. That also contributes to worrying. — Participant 4071, SOC arm

One interview participant complained about being given condoms that he did not want when testing:

One experience was that I was forced to take the female and male condoms with me. Yet I am a religious man so I told the man that if I go with such things home, I will be asked questions. That irritated me because I had not gone there to request for condoms but to be tested. — (Participant 5021, SOC arm)

#### 4.8.2 HIV risk perception on attitudes

Four of the SOC arm interview participants, two of the choice arm participants at baseline and seven of the choice arm participants at follow-up believed that they were not at risk of HIV. These participants explained that they did not engage in high-risk behavior (e.g. they used condoms with non-marital partners) or that they had tested for HIV recently. One participant qualified his risk, stating that he could only be at risk because of his wife's behavior:

No, I take care of myself. I don't move around with other women. I only have my wife. — Participant 4106, choice arm

I don't think I am based on the knowledge I have. I used to be at risk of getting HIV when I hadn't accepted to know my status. I had that risk. But when I accepted to know my status. You know in the earlier days, it was difficult to accept yourself. I mean getting to know your status. Then, I was at risk because I didn't know if I had it or not until I went to [test]. In short, the person who has gone for a test to know his status is not so much at risk of getting HIV. But he who has not yet gone for a test, I feel he is at risk of getting it. — (Participant 4024, SOC arm)

I take a lot of precaution. Because I have little children and I want them to get education. So if I was to deteriorate, health-wise, my children will suffer. I have no concerns unless my wife at home infects me. — (Participant 8018, choice arm follow-up)

#### 4.8.3 Attitudes about antiretroviral therapy

All interview participants had positive views about ARVs, believing that this drug therapy could help to control HIV and prolong life:

For me, I think that is the only solution and control to HIV. Without that and you decide to be misled by other people, you will die within a very short time. But if you use ARVs, you can even live for 10 years or even longer. — Participant 5145, choice arm

We have some people who when they get so sick, you find out that they are infected but when they start using ARVs, you realize they become healthier and start recovering very well, and even start working and live their normal lives. So I think ARVs help in a big way. — Participant 5063, SOC arm

#### 4.8.4 Effect on men's sense of power, manhood or virility

Only one interview participant suggested that HIV testing might have some impact on manhood or sense of masculinity:

HIV testing sometimes brings us stress and depression. It lowers dignity in men and they feel stigmatized before even somebody else knows they are positive. They feel a lot of fear. You will see a man being so lonely, stressed and has very low confidence. At the end of the day, you see a man not being a man as usual. There are a lot of problems when you see a man being disturbed by a big thing or a small thing and you cannot tell what he is going through. So it can reduce their sense of power or manhood. — Participant 5021, SOC arm

However, 5 out of the 10 participants in the SOC arm, 1 out of 4 at baseline and 3 out of 4 at follow-up in the choice arm felt that testing HIV positive had serious implications for manhood. Being HIV positive meant that someone was sick and likely would be unable to support his family:

You know when you go to get tested and it is a lady administering the test and let's say, for example, you find that you are positive, you feel like half of a man, half a man. So I feel it disturbs men a lot, especially if he is HIV positive. — Participant 9067, choice arm follow-up

Obviously, when the HIV virus gets into you it kills is it the red blood cells or the white blood cells. The white blood cells so you become less energetic. I mean you become weak, you cannot work, you cannot fend for your families. You just sleep at home, helpless, you see. — Participant 9084, choice arm follow-up

However, some participants noted that if a man tested negative, it could actually increase his sense of power or manhood:

Yes, after you test and find that you are HIV negative, usually one feels good, — Participant 5135, SOC arm

Yes, if he gets tested and the result is negative, he will feel that he is a total man. — Participant 5044, SOC arm

You know, after you have tested and found that you are HIV negative, you can even add another sexual partner. — Participant 5135, SOC arm

# 4.8.5 Barriers to clinic-based, provider-administered testing in the previous three months

Interview participants cited lack of time, concerns about confidentiality and stigma, already knowing their HIV status and it being less than three months since last tested as reasons for not being tested at a clinic. There were no differences in the responses of choice and SOC arm participants:

Mostly it's time, time because of work. You know you can find free time, but there are those personal issues when you get time that's when you do your personal things. Before you finish, time is gone. — Participant 9012, choice arm follow-up

Yes, the fear that I will be known I am here for HIV testing. — Participant 5145, choice arm

#### 4.8.6 Attitudes about self-testing

The interview participants varied in their views about self-testing in general, and more specifically about the biological specimen used for a self-test. Those who saw a benefit in self-testing indicated that people could test on their own schedule and in privacy, and thus avoid being stigmatized or discriminated against as they might experience in a clinic. Self-testing was also seen as a way to help men plan their lives, and some participants believed that it would encourage men to test more frequently. Another perceived benefit of self-testing was the quick turnaround time for results:

I think the main benefit is what I mentioned earlier on privacy, that you will be the only one who knows your status. — Participant 5135, SOC arm

One follow-up participant said that he did not like any type of self-testing, preferring provider-administered testing:

If I was given the two options for self-testing [oral or blood self-test], I would say none because I want to be tested personally.... Because of my personality, I would prefer to be tested by a healthcare giver somewhere in a clinic. If not in a clinic, if you can come to my house, as long as you are a trained person, I have no problem. — Participant 9043, choice arm follow-up

Another participant was concerned about proper disposal of the test kits:

Then he throws [the used HIV test kit] and then a child plays with the test kit and pricks him, you see it will hurt the child there. That's why I refuse this thing of

people being given the test kit to go test themselves. — Participant 8037, choice arm follow-up

One participant complained that he would have trouble getting the privacy he needed to self-test at home:

The issue of testing at home has no privacy. - Participant 5029, SOC arm

Other challenges to HIV self-testing included participants' concerns about the lack of inperson counseling, the potential for someone to perform the test incorrectly and accept false results, and also anxiety, fear and distrust around test results. However, regardless of their views about self-testing, participants agreed that people needed to have some type of counseling if they self-tested, and in-person counseling was generally preferred:

I don't think [HIV counseling] through the phone helps, you know. Have you heard someone saying the telephone is for lying? Someone can lie to you that he is in Nairobi when he is not. Now you can speak to a person, but when he gets the results, he will say I didn't even see the person I was speaking to on the phone my case is bad. But if you have someone talking to face to face, he will remember that person... As we are talking, I can just see you because we sat with you and saw each other you know. But if you will speak on the phone with someone to counsel him, you see that won't make sense. — Participant 8037, choice arm follow-up

If you find that you are positive, you should get a professional counselor to counsel you and give you motivation and make you feel comfortable and know that even if you are positive, there is still life to live. So before someone is given that kit to test, he should be counseled and told, "If you are negative, then make sure you always are negative and if you are positive, please come and let us talk about the new way of life." People should be convinced and counseled that before they are given the kits. That's why I said before that the kits should be put in a health facility where a person who comes to pick or buy are counseled first before they are given the kits. So that whether they are positive, they will come back and give results and say, "I have found myself positive, which way should I go?" And that's when they will be guided, counseled to make them feel they are still part of the society and needs to go on with their lives....[adequacy of counseling over the phone] depends, because maybe where I will be when you are calling could be somewhere public and the people around may start saying, "This person is being counseled" because I will also have to give my views, opinions and we will discuss. So...phone is not good, I would prefer going to the facility and meeting the counselor one on one. - Participant 5021, SOC arm

One interview participant who voiced concern about self-testing believed that the test kits would be misused and lead to condomless sex:

Of self-testing? To me I don't see any [advantages] because self-testing won't be beneficial, especially that again there will be misuse of the kit because you will want to self-test all the time you find a lady and I don't think that is a benefit because that can land you in a dangerous place. Then I was told these viruses are not detected within a short period. If you will test her, you will think she is negative and not use protection. To me, I don't think there is any benefit. — Participant 9067, choice arm, follow-up

Many participants believed that self-testing was a good option if they were trained properly and shown how to use the self-test kits. The biggest challenge would be learning how to use the kit, and the primary benefit would be to find out their results in private.

There were mixed opinions about the benefits of oral self-testing (as opposed to self-testing in general). Of the 20 interview participants who had an obvious position on oral self-testing, seven (2 out of 8 in the SOC arm, 2 out of 4 in the choice arm at baseline and 3 out of 8 in the choice arm at follow-up) were generally negative and 13 were positive. The reasons for the negative views varied. Participants who held positive attitudes about oral self-testing viewed it to be less painful than finger prick blood testing:

I am usually afraid to get blood and the oral test kit does not have long processes because it is very easy to get saliva from the mouth. — Participant 5135, SOC arm

The pricking one is painful, but the mouth one has no pain at all. — Participant 4153, SOC arm

The rapidity in return of results, endorsement of the test by trained healthcare providers and perceived efficacy of test results were seen as advantages of the oral self-test:

Because you get to know your results in 20 minutes. You know, when one is testing, he gets very anxious to know the answer to know you have or you don't have that disease, so it will make your heart calm down because the results are fast. The positive is that you get the results instantly. The negative is that if you are testing for the first time you get very anxious and there is always that fear. But you get confident because you know it must be working correct because the healthcare workers already approved. — Participant 5145, choice arm

Coz the provider is trained, I will be more confident. — Participant 5010, choice arm

You will trust it because it is the doctors who invented it. — Participant 5135, SOC arm

Interview participants also reasoned that HIV is in body fluids like saliva and therefore the virus can be detected in saliva:

You know, out of the education we have received, I know that HIV can be transmitted from bodily fluids which I think includes fluids that come out of the gums, then I think even the oral one can also be a good way of testing. — Participant 5021, SOC arm

However, other participants mistrusted the results of an oral test and believed that the virus cannot be detected in saliva, but only in blood:

I cannot believe the results of this kind of test. Because, as per the information I have received, it is the one that uses blood that is used and gives correct results. I have never heard about the oral kit. — Participant 5119, SOC arm

You mean the one to use in the gum? That one might not give results...Because many people say that saliva does not transfer any disease. — Participant 5029, SOC arm

One follow-up interview participant believed that oral self-testing was only for white people:

That one I cannot do that one. You know, I was told the method that is known is the blood test. This oral one, you know, this are for white people. I cannot trust them. — Participant 9067, choice arm follow-up

Lack of familiarity with the oral swab self-test led some interview participants to report they could not comment on its advantages or feel they could say anything about it.

When asked about a hypothetical blood-based self-test, 2 of the 5 interview participants in the choice arm at baseline and 5 of the 8 at follow-up had positive views of a blood-based self-test, while 6 of the 11 participants in the SOC arm had positive views. Some participants indicated that such a test would have the benefit of high accuracy (based on the fact that it uses blood) in addition to the convenience of a self-test:

Because it involves the direct use of blood... the positive is that the results is always accurate. — Participant 5063, SOC arm

I think this is the best method because if you are pricked on the finger, the blood is taken and you see the results there immediately. That will be good because the blood has been tested as you see. — Participant 4071, SOC arm

You know blood shows diseases from afar and it has confirmation, but this other oral one, that one no. — Participant 9067, choice arm follow-up

Because we have grown up knowing about that blood test, whether it is malaria, whether it is anything. So our thoughts, our psychology still knows that is the best, although sometimes we fear pain, but that is the best. — Participant 9043, choice arm follow-up

That is not bad...because you prick yourself and know your health. You have to get used [to it] because you have already been shown what to do. — Participant 8089, choice arm follow-up

Perceived challenges with using this blood-based self-test were pain, the fear of pricking oneself and contamination of the lancet:

There is that pain of pricking yourself and then you get another pain if you find you are not OK. — Participant 5145, choice arm

Negative is that sometimes I feel that the lancet used to prick may infect me of other diseases and then also that the same blood sample is used only to test HIV only whereas I feel it would have been better if used to test other diseases so that

one leaves the hospital knowing their health status generally because one can be HIV negative, but positive with other diseases. — Participant 5021, SOC arm

The one for pricking myself, that I can't [do]. Don't even talk about that one because I cannot see myself taking a needle and pricking myself. That is not possible. I am a coward... Maybe if someone holds my hand, that's when it will work. — Participant 8091, choice arm follow-up

When considering the results of a self-test, interview participants felt that people would view the test results as credible, but also preferred to have a healthcare provider perform a second test to confirm the results. If self-tests become available in Kenya, participants believed that truck drivers would be willing to pay KES 100–200 to purchase the kit.

#### 4.8.7 Effect of self-testing on seeking HIV treatment

The majority of participants reported that they would seek HIV treatment if they tested HIV positive when self-testing:

Yes, I would seek care and treatment. There are government clinics that have the drugs, and also clinics like North Star Alliance that educate people on HIV. It will be easy for them to get drugs faster because one will realize that since he is already infected with HIV, he has no other option other than to take the drugs. — Participant 5011, SOC arm

However, several participants in both study arms believed that if a person learned they were HIV positive via self-testing, this would have a negative effect on their linkage to HIV care, e.g. self-testing might encourage men not to share their results and therefore not to seek treatment:

After that test, that man may take the results as his secret and may not share with anybody or be happy sharing. Maybe when he is negative, he can share but when he is positive, he may tend to hide. — Participant 5063, SOC arm

*Reasons for not picking up self-test kit during follow-up* Many of the participants who completed the follow-up interview noted that they did not have time to pick up the self-test kit due to their work schedules and not being close to a North Star Alliance clinic. A few reported that they were afraid to pick up the test kit due to stigma:

Because some may think that you are coming to take medicine for curing HIV and AIDS. — Participant 5011, choice arm follow-up

In contrast, others stated that they already knew their HIV status (all participants in the follow-up interviews had tested at baseline). However, participants who reported that work schedule constraints hindered their picking up self-test kits indicated that if they had the kits at home, they would test themselves when they had time.

#### 4.9 Estimation of the added cost of the choice program compared with SOC

We conducted an exercise after the program ended to estimate the cost of implementing the choice approach above the cost of the SOC approach by adding up the cost of the program-specific components included in our logic model (see Figure 3).

#### Figure 3: Logic model for study



Some of the costs are estimated as they were not collected formally during the study, and some cost differences were assumed negligible (e.g. the cost of clinic space), which may not be completely accurate and would need to be reassessed when implementing the choice program on a larger scale.

Thus, in estimating the cost of the choice program, we made a number of assumptions, which may not be entirely accurate:

- The cost of time for pre- and post-test counseling per person was the same for both arms (SOC and choice), even though post-test counseling occurred over the telephone for those who took self-test kits for home use (n = 11 at baseline and n = 15 at follow-up), estimated as taking about 20 minutes in total.
- 2. The actual HIV testing process took 20 minutes, regardless of whether the selftest or the provider-administered test was used, and therefore the cost for the provider's time during the provider-administered test and the supervised self-test was the same.
- 3. The SOC HIV test kits had no cost as these kits were provided to the North Star Alliance by the Kenyan Ministry of Health for free (whereas there was a cost for the self-test kits as we had to purchase these).
- 4. The salary for a North Star Alliance provider (HTC counselor or other qualified provider) is roughly USD 1.50 per hour (USD 200 per month for a 35-hour workweek). There was no added cost for infrastructure for the choice program (e.g. clinic space and electricity).

Some of the costs estimated below are in part due to the fact that the choice program was being implemented within a research context rather than as a Ministry of Health-supported program. It is important to note, as described below, that two of the major drivers of the added cost of the program offered in the choice arm were the cost of the mobile phones and phone service and the cost of the self-test kits. We purchased high-end smartphones for this project and comprehensive service plans because the phones were being used for research purposes (e.g. phone-based interviews, including qualitative interviews that were recorded on the phone) as well as for phone-based, posttest counseling. Outside of a research context, it is possible that the phones and service available at the clinics would be sufficient.

Furthermore, if the Ministry of Health provides self-test kits to clinics at no cost, as it currently does with the SOC HIV test, this too would result in a large decrease in the cost of the choice program for the implementing organization. Therefore, we calculate the added cost per person in the choice arm and per additional person tested in the choice arm, both with and without the cost of the phones, phone service and test kits.

#### 4.9.1 Additional cost for the choice arm at baseline compared with the SOC arm

- a. Staff training on the self-test kits took about an hour to view the video, open and examine the test kits and discuss the best ways to demonstrate the test kits to clients. We trained four HTC counselors for this project, for an added cost of USD 6.00 (USD 1.50 per hour x 1 hour x 4 counselors), which is a total of USD 6.00 for training of counselors who served 150 people in the choice arm, or USD 0.04 per person in the choice arm.
- b. We purchased four mobile phones for the telephone-based, post-test counseling so those self-testing at home could get questions answered. Each phone cost about USD 45.00. We purchased four for counseling purposes for a cost of USD 180, or USD 1.20 per person (USD 180 per 150 people) in the choice arm.
- c. We paid for a mobile phone service estimated at USD 82.5 per month per phone. The baseline procedures were completed in 3 months, so this would cost USD 990 (USD 82.50 x 3 months x 4 phones), or USD 6.60 per person.
- d. Each HIV self-test kit cost USD 7.54 (USD 6.50 per kit + 16% VAT). Ninety-five of the 150 people in the choice arm, or 63.33%, chose the self-test, for an average additional cost of USD 4.78 per person (7.54 x 0.6333).
- e. Each participant in the choice arm was given a demonstration of the self-test kit before being asked which HIV test they would like to take. The additional cost per person to demonstrate the self-test kit was approximately USD 0.25 (calculated by assuming that it took 10 minutes of a healthcare provider's time, or 16.7% of an hour, on average, based on the duration of the OraQuick® demonstration video, which is about 6.5 minutes (see http://www.oraquick.com/Taking-the-Test/How-To-Video) plus a few minutes for questions (0.167 x 1.50).
- f. In the choice arm, 131 of 150 clients (87.3%) tested for HIV, compared with 114 of 155 (72.9%) in the SOC arm, a 19.75% increase from 72.9%. If this increase is linear in relationship to the SOC rate, we expect that implementing the choice program would result in 19.75% more people in the program testing at baseline. This would result in an extra cost of pre- and post-test counseling of 20 minutes per person, or 33.3% of an hour (0.1975 x USD 1.50 x 0.333 hours) for an additional cost of USD 0.099 per person.

g. However, each HIV self-test that was used unsupervised (i.e. taken for home use) resulted in a saving of 20 minutes, or 33.3% of an hour, of the HTC counselor's time. Since 11 of the 150 participants (7.3%) took a test kit for home use, this resulted in an average saving of USD 0.04 per person (0.073 x 1.50 x 0.333).

Thus, the total additional cost of offering oral-HIV self-testing with supervision in the clinic or for unsupervised home use as choices in addition to the SOC test at baseline was USD 12.93 (0.04 + 1.20 + 6.60 + 4.78 + 0.25 + 0.099 - 0.04) per person in a 150-person program, on average. Cost would likely decrease with more participants, and increase if, over time, fewer people opted for self-testing and fewer people were inclined to test, as was observed in the follow-up period.

## 4.9.2 Assumptions on the added cost of self-testing in the choice arm over the 6month follow-up compared to the SOC approach

- a. We followed participants for an additional 6 months, which resulted in an additional cost of USD 1,980 (USD 82.5 x 6 months x 4 phones) or USD 13.20 (1,980 per 150 participants) per person
- b. At follow-up, 18 of the 150 participants (12.0%) in the choice arm used self-test kits, which added a cost of USD 0.90 (USD 7.54 x 0.12) per person.
- c. In the choice arm, 56.3% of clients tested for HIV during the 6-month follow-up compared with 55.2% in the SOC arm, a 2% increase over 55.2%. Thus, we assume that offering the choice program over a 6-month follow-up period would result in testing 2.0% more people over a 6-month period. This would result in the additional cost of the 20-minute pre- and post-test counseling of USD 0.01 (0.02 x 1.50 x 0.333) per person, on average.
- d. Fifteen people in the choice arm, or 10% of the 150 participants, used the test kit outside of the clinic without supervision, for a cost saving of USD 0.05 (0.10 x 1.50 x 0.333) per person due to the lack of supervision required during the testing.
- e. There was no additional cost to demonstrating the test kit since it had been demonstrated at baseline.

Thus, the total additional cost of offering the choice of oral HIV self-testing with supervision in the clinic or unsupervised home use over a 6-month follow-up period was USD 14.06 (13.20 + 0.90 + 0.01 - 0.05) per person on average.

# 4.9.3 Cost of implementing the choice approach at baseline and six-month followup compared with the SOC arm

The total additional cost of offering the choice of oral HIV self-testing with supervision in the clinic or for unsupervised home use in addition to the SOC test both at baseline and over a 6 month follow-up period was USD 26.99 (USD 12.93 + USD 14.06) per person on average.

# 4.9.4 Cost per additional person tested using the choice approach

The additional cost per person tested at baseline is USD 65.47 (USD 12.93  $\div$  0.1975), over six-month follow-up is USD 703 (14.06  $\div$  0.02), and at baseline and six-month follow-up combined is USD 124.09 (USD 26.99  $\div$  (0.1975 + 0.02)).

If the choice program were being implemented outside of a research context on the same scale, it is likely that the phones and phone service the North Star Alliance currently has would suffice and there would be little additional cost. Further, if self-test kits were provided free by the Ministry of Health, the additional cost per person tested would be USD 1.77 at baseline  $(0.04 + 1.20 + 6.60 + 0.25 + 4.78 + 0.099 - 0.04) \div 0.1975 = 0.349 \div 0.1975$ ). There would be a saving of USD 2.00 during the 6-month follow-up per person tested  $(13.20 + 0.90 + 0.01 - 0.05) \div 0.02 = -0.04 \div 0.02)$ , and a total additional cost for baseline and 6-month follow-up of USD 1.43 ((0.349 - .04)  $\div$  (0.1975 + 0.02)) per person tested.

Of course, if the choice program is implemented on a larger scale, there might be additional savings as well as additional costs to such scale-up related to the increased HIV testing rates, such as the need for larger clinic space, additional HTC counselors, additional phones and phone lines. These costs would depend on the level of scale-up and are beyond the scope of this costing exercise.

# 5. Discussion

# 5.1 Implications of study results

To our knowledge, this is the first study to look at offering oral HIV self-testing to truck drivers and also the first study comparing the offer of HIV testing choices to offering a single option in any population. We found that truck drivers who were offered a choice of HIV testing methods were more likely to test compared to those offered only the SOC test. This difference was not statistically significant when only looking at testing in the clinic (OR = 1.5, p = 0.189), but it was significant when including taking a test kit for use outside of the clinic (OR = 2.8, p = 0.002).

Importantly, the additional 11 participants who tested outside of the clinic had already refused both in-clinic HIV testing options and would not have tested at all if they had not been offered a test kit to take with them. The higher uptake of self-testing in the clinic (64.6%) and for use outside of the clinic (8.5%) compared to the SOC test (chosen by 26.9%) among those offered a choice suggests that truck drivers in Kenya are ready for self-testing, as has also been indicated by studies with other groups in Kenya (Heard and Brown 2016).

Furthermore, a higher proportion of the 25 participants who had never previously tested for HIV accepted HIV testing in the choice arm compared with the SOC arm (73.3% versus 50.0%). While the difference was not statistically significant, this suggests that offering oral HIV self-testing as a choice might be a way to get people to test who are not doing so under the current provider-administered, facility-based testing system. These findings are consistent with the results from the discrete choice experiment, which found that participants who had never tested for HIV had a significant preference for an oral swab test and for telephone-based counseling, two features not available with the SOC test. Those who had tested before preferred in-person counseling and had no preference regarding the biological specimen used for the test. However, larger studies are needed to determine if some of these suggestive but not statistically significant findings are real. Study participants in the choice arm varied in which HIV test they picked, and a fair proportion (26.9%) picked the SOC test. This too is consistent with the discrete choice experiment, which found that preferences differed by HIV testing history as well as marital status. This is also consistent with the in-depth interviews, which found that participants who did not test at baseline or over follow-up had strong – but varied – preferences regarding the biological specimen used for the HIV test (oral fluid or blood). This variation in preference for blood versus oral HIV tests was also found in a qualitative study looking at views on oral self-testing among a sample of South African clinic attendees (Kelvin et al. 2016).

While this preference should not explain the failure to test for those in the choice group as they were offered both options, it could at least partially explain the failure to test for some of those in the SOC group. Therefore, oral HIV self-testing should not replace the current HIV testing options, which work for many and are preferred by some. Instead, by offering choices, people can select the HIV testing method that meets their needs and preferences.

The lack of a difference in uptake of HIV testing by study arm during follow-up was surprising. We might expect that the impact of offering testing choices during baseline would also be found during follow-up. However, it is important to note that we recruited study participants from the waiting room of the two participating clinics. While the majority of participants had not come to the clinic specifically for HIV testing, they were already at the clinic, so offering testing choices to them may have a different impact than offering choices but requiring people to go to a clinic to access those choices.

Many participants in the follow-up in-depth interviews specifically stated that the reason they did not test during follow-up was that they did not have time to go to a clinic to pick up a test kit. This has implications for making HIV self-test kits available to truck drivers, and perhaps others, in Kenya. The impact is likely to be stronger if those test kits are brought to the people than if they are made available but people need to travel to a clinic to access them.

It may also be the case that since such a high proportion of study participants tested at baseline, many who might have been motivated to test during follow-up when offered testing choices did not feel the need to do so since they had tested recently. In fact, one of the main reasons that in-depth interview participants gave for not testing during follow-up (all in the choice arm) was that they had tested recently and therefore felt confident that they knew their HIV status. Therefore, future studies should look into the impact of offering self-test kits over a longer follow-up period.

The steps in the self-testing process during which more participants asked questions or required unsolicited instruction included not contaminating the swab by touching it and waiting for the necessary amount of time before looking at the test result. These issues have been reported in another study in Kenya, where people were videotaped while self-administering the test (Kurth et al. 2016). Therefore, the instructions for these steps need to be clarified or better emphasized. This is particularly the case for the waiting time, as some people may not have access to a dependable clock and, as found in our study, even those who do may not monitor the time accurately.

However, when allowed to ask questions, we found that very few participants required actual correction during the testing process. This suggests that participants were well aware when they were unsure about what to do and asked questions to ensure that they did the testing correctly. Three of those who self-tested during follow-up chose to do so in the clinic with supervision, and that one person who took a test kit for home use at baseline later returned to the clinic to use the kit with supervision. This suggests that it is important to provide some mechanism by which people can ask questions and/or test with supervision if they prefer. Perhaps encouraging supervised self-testing the first time will allay some of people's concerns and ensure correct self-administration of future tests.

Almost all the participants who self-tested in the clinic chose to view their test results with the HTC counselor. Of the two who chose to view their results alone, both disclosed the test result to the counselor during post-test counseling. This is important, as one concern about self-testing is that people will not disclose their status and thus will not get appropriate counseling, referrals and linkages to care. In addition, it suggests that the possibility of confidentiality breaches by clinic staff is not a major concern among participants, which was supported by the generally positive experiences that in-depth interview participants reported having with HIV testing in the past.

However, all participants who self-tested in this study tested HIV negative. Whether those who test HIV positive who view their test results in private will also disclose that result during post-test counseling is unknown. Furthermore, the failure of those who self-tested outside of the clinic to contact the HTC counselor after self-testing is a concern as it suggests that some may not make the effort to obtain post-test counseling when self-testing outside of a clinic setting. Again, all of these participants reported that their tests were HIV negative. Therefore, they may not have felt the need for counseling and referrals since they had received pre-test counseling. Future research is needed to see if those testing HIV positive outside of a clinic setting will contact the clinic for counseling and referrals. While more evidence is gathered, we recommend that people who self-test outside of a clinic staff to ensure that they receive counseling and referrals as needed.

When looking at predictors of HIV testing, anticipated HIV stigma was significantly associated with lower odds of having ever tested for HIV in all models (crude, multivariable and when imputing missing data). This finding is consistent with another study among truck drivers in Brazil (Pulerwitz et al. 2008b) and other studies from Sub-Saharan Africa looking at non-truck driver populations (Weiser et al. 2006; Kalichman and Simbayi 2003; Mall et al. 2013; Kelly et al. 2016; Young et al. 2010). We were surprised to find that having more fatalistic views was not associated with lower HIV testing behavior. This could be because the fatalism scale we used was general and not specific to HIV. Future research could consider using the Powe Fatalism Inventory – HIV and AIDS to assess truck drivers' HIV and AIDS-related fatalism and if it influences testing uptake (Hess and McKinney 2007).

Other surprises were the lack of association of self-efficacy, gender equity and sensation seeking with HIV testing. However, keep in mind that participants in this study were all recruited from a healthcare clinic, which might have influenced these associations. We also found that participants' self-esteem score was significantly associated with greater

odds of having tested in the previous six months and testing during follow-up in the complete case multivariable model. Another study in Uganda also explored the relationship between self-esteem and having ever tested for HIV and found no significant association (OR 1.0; p = 0.819), although its population was restricted to adolescents (Hampanda et al. 2014). Certainly, future research is warranted to better understand if, and how, individual beliefs and attitudes influence HIV testing behavior.

We found that truck drivers who expressed more fatalistic views were less likely to choose the oral HIV self-test over the provider-administered blood test in all regression models (crude, multivariable and stepwise). Those with more fatalistic views might be more likely to choose the provider-administered test as fatalistic views may indicate a predilection for the more passive testing option, allowing the provider to administer the test rather than actively administering the test themselves.

We were also surprised to find that those with higher general self-efficacy were less likely to choose the HIV self-test among those who tested, although this only reached statistical significance in the stepwise model. We had expected that those with higher self-efficacy would be more likely to choose a self-test rather than having someone else administer the test. A previous study in Malawi found self-efficacy to be positively associated with HIV testing in general (Berendes and Rimal 2011), so again self-efficacy may have a different impact on test selection when given a choice, rather than on choosing to test in general. Also, since our participants were recruited from a general healthcare clinic, although they were not necessarily there for HIV testing, it is possible that the impact of self-efficacy on HIV testing may, in part, be related to getting to a clinic for testing as opposed to accepting testing when offered it after arrival at a clinic.

The results from the discrete choice analyses showed that preferences for various HIV test attributes vary by HIV testing history and marital status. Interestingly, there was no preference regarding who administered the HIV test (self or nurse) overall or in any of the subgroups examined. However, there were preferences regarding some other characteristics that may be related to self-testing, such as the use of oral fluid rather than blood, telephone-based rather than in-person counseling, and the testing location.

Participants' strong and varied preferences regarding the biological specimen used for the test and their preference for in-person counseling were echoed in the in-depth interviews. Thus, it is possible that the features of oral HIV self-testing that make it more acceptable to some groups, including some not testing under the current system, may not be self-testing itself. However, additional research is needed among truck drivers and other key populations before definitive conclusions can be drawn. It would be interesting to conduct a study in which people are offered various combinations of provider-administered oral testing, provider administered blood-testing, oral self-testing and blood self-testing, some with in-person counseling and some with telephone or Internet-based counseling, and see what people choose.

#### 5.2 Limitations of the study

This study had a number of limitations. First, the HIV testing rate in the SOC arm at baseline (72.9%) was much higher than the 60% expected and higher than the 55% for all clients at the two clinics during the study period, and thus the study was

underpowered for some comparisons. In addition, our sample may not have been representative of all North Star Alliance clients. Specifically, only 8.2% of participants had never tested for HIV and, of those who had tested before, half had done so within the past 6 months. However, the higher testing rate we observed may also be related to offering HIV testing directly following a detailed interview about HIV testing and sexual risk behavior, which may have motivated some truck drivers to test who would not have tested otherwise.

Second, there may have been some errors in the data on self-reported measures, particularly around HIV testing history and past sexual behavior. However, our baseline HIV testing outcome was based on observation in all cases except for the 11 people who self-tested outside of the clinic, thus minimizing error. While interviewer error in the outcome (and other variables) is possible, we went through an extensive data cleaning process that included checking that the outcome was consistent with other data fields (e.g. if the outcome is a self-test in the clinic with supervision, we checked that there was a test observation form completed and that the correct version of the post-test questionnaire was administered and the answers made sense given the test used). However, some data collection errors are possible and, because of randomization, those errors would likely be non-differential by study arm and would result in bias towards the null. Finally, our results may not be generalizable to all truck drivers in Kenya or in other countries.

## 5.3 Policy implications

Despite these limitations, our findings suggest that offering oral HIV self-testing as a choice alongside the current testing options may have the potential to increase HIV testing rates among truck drivers in Kenya. Our results also have some important implications for policy development to deploy oral self-testing in Kenya among truck drivers, and possibly other populations. First and foremost, oral self-testing should be thought of as complementary to existing services rather than replacing them. Many of the participants in our study preferred the existing standard of care, but for others self-testing was an attractive alternative.

Implementing oral self-testing not only requires HTC counselor training and consideration with how self-testing fits into the current service model (e.g. costs and pricing, and dissemination venues), but it is critical to design appropriate information and counseling resources for clients. As we learned, questions about the self-testing process and interpretation of the results do come up during HIV testing, so clients need a way to have their questions answered. Some even need supporting through the instructions.

Similarly, mechanisms for pre- and post-test HIV counseling need to be established. Mandatory pre-test counseling might be combined with picking up self-test kits at a local clinic, but post-test counseling is more difficult to deliver because it depends on the client to seek out this service. In our study, none of the participants contacted the HTC counselor for post-test counseling. However, this may be because they all tested HIV negative and felt they did not need counseling and referrals.

An important question is whether those who test HIV-positive when self-testing outside of a healthcare venue will seek post-test counseling and referrals to care. Given the

challenge of linkage to care for those who test in a clinic setting, some consideration and program testing will be needed to ensure that those who self-test are not even less likely to link to care when required.

A possible solution to these issues might be to establish a 24-hour telephone hotline, as OraSure has done in the US (OraQuick 2016). Alternate approaches could include video-based counseling, perhaps using a QR code on the test package that links to the video when viewed using a smartphone or website. Of course, these options will only work for people with access to a landline, mobile or smartphone and/or the Internet. While such technology is increasing in Africa (Pew Research Center 2015), alternatives also need to be available for those without this access, such as via trained community health workers, pharmacists and clinic staff. Mandatory pre-test counseling might also serve to emphasize the availability of this resource to clients and the importance of seeking post-test counseling.

# **5.4 Conclusions**

Oral HIV self-testing is acceptable and can be administered correctly by Kenyan truck drivers and other groups (Heard and Brown 2016), especially if the opportunity to ask questions is available. A number of questions remain about how best to incorporate self-administered oral HIV testing and HIV self-testing into national programs in Kenya and other African countries. If a considered approach to roll-out can be coupled with ongoing research and evaluation, and program modification when new evidence becomes available, this new technology may have the potential to reach the first 90 (that 90% of HIV-infected people know their status) in the 90-90-90 goal (UNAIDS 2014b) closer to reality.

# References

Angotti, N, Bula, A, Gaydosh, L, Kimchi, EZ, Thornton, RL and Yeatman, SE, 2009. Increasing the acceptability of HIV counselling and testing with three C's: convenience, confidentiality and credibility. *Social Science & Medicine*, 68(12), pp.2263–2270.

Azuonwu, O, Erhaboe, O and Frank-Peterside, N, 2011. HIV infection in long-distance truck drivers in a low income setting in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. *Journal of Community Health*, 36(4), pp.583–587.

Berendes, S and Rimal, RN, 2011. Addressing the slow uptake of HIV testing in Malawi: the role of stigma, self-efficacy, and knowledge in the Malawi BRIDGE Project. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, 22(3), pp.215–228.

Botão, C, Horth, ZH, Frank, H, Cummings, B, Inguane, C, Sathane, I, McFarland, W, Raymond, HF and Young, PW, 2016. Prelvalence of HIV and associated risk factors among long distance truck dirvers in Inchope, Mozambique, 2012. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(4), pp.811–820.

Bronfenbrenner, U, 1994. Ecological models of human development. In: M Gauvain and M Cole, eds., 1994. *International Encyclopedia of Education (3)* 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Oxford: Elsevier.

Delany-Moretlwe, S, Bello, B, Kinross, P, Oliff, M, Chersich, M, Kleinschmidt, I and Rees, H, 2014. HIV prevalence and risk in long-distance truck drivers in South Africa: a national cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of STD & AIDS*, 25(6), pp.428–438.

Hampanda, K, Ybarra, M and Bull, S, 2014. Perceptions of health care services and HIV-related health-seeking behavior among Uganda adolescents. *AIDS Care,* 26 (10), pp.1209–1217.

Harper, GW, Riplinger, AJ, Neubauer, LC, Murphy, A, Velcoff, J and Bangi, AK, 2014. Ecological factors influencing HIV sexual risk and resilience among young people in rural Kenya: implications for prevention. *Health Education Research,* 29(1), pp.131–146.

Harris, P, Taylor, R, Thielke, R, Payne, J, Gonzalez, N and Conde, J, 2009. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) – A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 42(2), pp.377–381.

Heard, AC and Brown, AN, 2016. Public readiness for HIV self-testing in Kenya. *AIDS Care*, 28(12), pp.1–5.

Hess, RF and McKinney, D, 2007. Fatalism and HIV/AIDS beliefs in rural Mali, West Africa. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 39(2), pp.113–118.

IRIN, 2013. *Tackling HIV on Kenya's transport corridors* [Online]. Nairobi, Kenya: IRIN. Available at: http://www.irinnews.org/printreport.aspx?reportid=98343 [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Johnson, C, Baggaley, R, Forsythe, S, Van Rooyen, H, Ford, N, Napieral Mavedzenge, S, Corbett, E, Natarajan, P and Taegtmeyer, M, 2014. Realizing the potential for HIV self-testing. *AIDS and Behavior,* 18(Suppl 4), pp.S391–S395.

Jurgensen, M, Tuba, M, Fylkesnes, K and Blystad, A, 2012. The burden of knowing: balancing benefits and barriers in HIV testing decisions; a qualitative study from Zambia. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12(2), pp.1-11.

Kalichman, SC, Johnson, J, Adair, V, Rompa, D, Multhauf, K and Kelly, JA, 1994. Sexual sensation seeking: scale development and predicting AIDS-risk behavior among homosexually active men. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 62(3), pp.385–397.

Kalichman, SC and Simbayi, LC, 2003. HIV testing attitudes, AIDS stigma, and voluntary HIV counselling and testing in a black township in Cape Town, South Africa. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 79(6), pp.442–427.

Kalichman, SC, Simbayi, LC, Jooste, S, Cain, D and Cherry, C, 2006. Sensation seeking, alcohol use, and sexual behaviors among sexually transmitted infection clinic patients in Cape Town, South Africa. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 20(3), pp.298–304.

Kalichman, SC, Simbayi, L, Jooste, S, Vermaak, R and Cain, D, 2008. Sensation seeking and alcohol use predict HIV transmission risks: prospective study of sexually transmitted infection clinic patients, Cape Town, South Africa. *Addictive Behaviors*, 33(12), pp.1630–1633.

Kelly, JD, Weiser, SD and Tsai, AC, 2016. Proximate Context of HIV Stigma and Its Association with HIV Testing in Sierra Leone: A Population-Based Study. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(1), pp.65–70.

Kelvin, E, Cheruvillil, A, Christian, S, Mantell, J, Milford, C, Rambally-Greener, L, Mosery, N, Greener, R and Smit, J, 2016. Choice in HIV testing: the acceptability and anticipated use of a self-administered at-home oral HIV test among South Africans. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 15(2), pp.99–108.

Kelvin EA, George G, Mwai E, Nyaga EN, Mantell JE, Romo ML, Odhiambo JO, Govender K, 2017. Offering self-administered oral HIV testing as a choice to truck drivers in Kenya: predictors of uptake and need for guidance while self-testing. *AIDS and Behavior, doi:10.1007/s10461-017-1783-9.* 

Kurth, AE, Cleland, CM, Chhun, N, Sidle, JE, Werer, E, Naanyu, V, Emonyi, W, Macharia, S M, Sang, E and Siika, AM, 2016. Accuracy and Acceptability of Oral Fluid HIV Self-Testing in a General Adult Population in Kenya. *AIDS and Behavior,* 20(4), pp.870–879.

Lurie, MN, Williams, BG, Zuma, K, Mkaya-Mwamburi, D, Garnett, GP, Sweat, MD, Gittelsohn, J and Karim, SS, 2003. Who infects whom? HIV-1 concordance and discordance among migrant and non-migrant couples in South Africa. *AIDS*, 17(15), pp.2245–2252.

Luszczynska, A, Scholz, U and Schwarzer, R, 2005. The general self-efficacy scale: multicultural validation studies. *Journal of Psychology*, 139(5), pp.439–457.

Mall, S, Middelkoop, K, Mark, D, Wood, R and Bekker, LG, 2013. Changing patterns in HIV/AIDS stigma and uptake of voluntary counselling and testing services: the results of two consecutive community surveys conducted in the Western Cape, South Africa. *AIDS Care*, 25(2), pp.194–201.

Mantell, J, Dicarlo, AL, Remien, RH, Zerbe, A, Morris, D, Pitt, B, Nkonyana, JP, Abrams, EJ and El-Sadr, W, 2014. 'There's no place like home': perceptions of home-based HIV testing in Lesotho. *Health Education Research*, 29(3), pp.456–469.

Mills, E, Beyrer, C, Birungi, J and Dybul, M, 2012. Engaging men in prevention and care for HIV/AIDS in Africa. *PLOS Medicine*. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed</a>>.

NASCOP, 2008. *National guidelines for HIV testing and counselling in Kenya*. Available at: <http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---protrav/--ilo\_aids/documents/legaldocument/wcms\_127533.pdf> [Accessed 19 June 2014].

North Star Alliance, 2012. *The North Star Alliance: Annual Overview*. Utrecht: The Netherlands. Available at: http://www.northstar-alliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/UPDATED-2012-Annual-Overview-North-Star-Alliance.pdf> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

North Star Alliance, 2014. *North Star Alliance*. Available at: <a href="http://www.northstar-alliance.org/">http://www.northstar-alliance.org/</a> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Ojo, O, Verbeek, JH, Rasanen, K, Heikkinen, J, Isotalo, LK, Mngoma, N and Ruotsalainen, E, 2011. Interventions to reduce risky sexual behaviour for preventing HIV infection in workers in occupational settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews,* Available at: doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005274.pub3.

OraQuick®, 2016. *Find counselling and care*. Available at: <a href="http://www.oraquick.com/Find-Counselling-and-Care">http://www.oraquick.com/Find-Counselling-and-Care</a> [Accessed 31 August 2016].

Pew Research Center, 2015. *Cell Phones in Africa: Communication Lifeline*. Available at: <a href="http://www.pewglobal.org/2015/04/15/cell-phones-in-africa-communication-lifeline/">http://www.pewglobal.org/2015/04/15/cell-phones-in-africa-communication-lifeline/</a> [Accessed 31 August 2016].

Progressio, 2013. *HIV in Zimbabwe: Tales of a truck driver*. Available at: <a href="http://www.progressio.org.uk/blog/ground/hiv-zimbabwe-tales-truck-driver">http://www.progressio.org.uk/blog/ground/hiv-zimbabwe-tales-truck-driver</a>> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Pulerwitz, J, Michaelis, AP, Lippman, SA, Chinaglia, M and Diaz, J, 2008. HIV-related stigma, service utilization, and status disclosure among truck drivers crossing the Southern borders in Brazil. *AIDS Care*, 20(7), pp.764–770.

Pulerwitz, J and Barker, G, 2008. Measuring Attitudes toward Gender Norms among Young Men in Brazil: Development and Psychometric Evaluation of the GEM Scale. *Men and Masculinities*, 10(3), pp.322–328. Rakwar, J, Lavreys, L, Thompson, ML, Jackson, D, Bwayo, J, Hassanali, S, Mandaliya, K, Ndinya-Achola, J and Kreiss, J, 1999. Cofactors for the acquisition of HIV-1 among heterosexual men: prospective cohort study of trucking company workers in Kenya. *AIDS*, 13(5), pp.607–614.

Ramjee, G and Gouws, E, 2002. Prevalence of HIV among truck drivers visiting sex workers in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 29(1), pp.44–49.

Ramjee, G, Karim, SS and Sturm, AW, 1998. Sexually transmitted infections among sex workers in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 25(7), pp.346–349.

Ramkissoon, A, Beksinska, M, Searle, C, Govender, T, Smit, J and Kleinschmidt, I, 2011. HIV counselling and testing in an urban reproductive primary health clinic in South Africa: gender differences among clients. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 58(5), e138–40.

Rosenberg, M, 1965. *Society and the adolescent self-image*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Schmitt, DP and Allik, J, 2005. Simultaneous administration of the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale in 53 nations: exploring the universal and culture-specific features of global self-esteem. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(4), pp.623–642.

Schwarzer, R, and Jerusalem, M, 1995. Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. In: J Weinman, S Wright and M Johnston, 1995. *Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio. Causal and control beliefs* (pp.35–37). Windsor, UK: NFER-NELSON.

Shen, L, Condit, CM and Wright, L, 2009. The psychometric property and validation of a fatalism scale. *Psychology & Health*, 24(5), pp.597–613.

Shisana, O, Rehle, T, Simbayi, LC, Zuma, K, Jooste, S, Pillay-van-Wyk, V, Mbelle, N, van Zyl, J, Parker, W, Zungu, NP, Pezi, S and the SABSSM III Implementation Team, 2009. *South African national HIV prevalence, incidence, behaviour and communication survey, 2008 – a turning tide among teenagers?* Cape Town: HSRC Press.

South African National AIDS Council, 2011. *South Africa HIV epidemic, response and policy synthesis.* Available at:

<a href="http://supportservices.ufs.ac.za/dl/userfiles/Documents/00001/1432\_eng.pdf">http://supportservices.ufs.ac.za/dl/userfiles/Documents/00001/1432\_eng.pdf</a> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Trucking Wellness, 2012. *Trucking Wellness Annual Report 2012,* Trucking Wellness. Available at: <a href="http://www.coremp.co.za/pdf/302\_tw\_annualreport2013\_rfp\_lr.pdf">http://www.coremp.co.za/pdf/302\_tw\_annualreport2013\_rfp\_lr.pdf</a> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Tversky, A and Kahneman, D, 1981. The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. *Science*, 211(4481), pp.453–458.

UNAIDS, 2014a. *Kenya AIDS Response Progress Report 2014: Progress towards Zero.*, Genveva: UNAIDS. Available at:

<a href="http://www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/knowyourresponse/countryprogressreports/2014">http://www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/knowyourresponse/countryprogressreports/2014</a> countries/KEN\_narrative\_report\_2014.pdf> [Accessed 15 June 2014].

UNAIDS, 2014b. 90-90-90 – An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic .Geneva: UNAIDS. Available at: <a href="http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/90-90-90\_en\_0.pdf">http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/90-90-90\_en\_0.pdf</a>> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Venkatesh, KK, Madiba, P, De Bruyn, G, Lurie, MN, Coates, TJ and Gray, GE, 2011. Who gets tested for HIV in a South African urban township? Implications for test and treat and gender-based prevention interventions. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 56(2), pp.151–165.

Viney, R, Lancsar, E and Louviere, J, 2002. Discrete choice experiments to measure consumer preferences for health and healthcare. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*, 2(4), pp.319–326.

Weiser, SD, Heisler, M, Leiter, K, Percy-de Korte, F, Tlou, S, Demonner, S, Phaladze, N, Bangsberg, DR and Iacopino, V, 2006. Routine HIV testing in Botswana: a population-based study on attitudes, practices, and human rights concerns. *PLOS Medicine*, 3(1), e261. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030261.

World Health Organization, 2012. *Programamtic uptake. Antiretroviral treatment as prevention (TasP) of HIV and TB,* Genveva: World Health Organization, UNAIDS. Available at:

<a href="http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/70904/1/WHO\_HIV\_2012.12\_eng.pdf">http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/70904/1/WHO\_HIV\_2012.12\_eng.pdf</a> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

World Health Organization, 2013. *HIV assays operational characteristics. HIV diagnostic tests (detection of HIV1/2 antibodies),* Geneva: World Heath Organization. Available at: <a href="http://www.who.int/diagnostics\_laboratory/evaluations/hiv/131107\_hiv\_assays17\_final.p">http://www.who.int/diagnostics\_laboratory/evaluations/hiv/131107\_hiv\_assays17\_final.p</a> df?ua=1> [Accessed 30 August 2016].

Young, SD, Hlavka, Z, Modiba, P, Gray, G, Van Rooyen, H, Richter, L, Szekeres, G and Coates, T, 2010. HIV-related stigma, social norms, and HIV testing in Soweto and Vulindlela, South Africa: National Institutes of Mental Health Project Accept (HPTN 043). *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 55(5), pp.620–624.

# Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/publications/3ie-impact-evaluation-reports/3ie-impact-evaluations/

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV services in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya, 3ie Impact *Evaluation Report 60.* Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian *Midwives Service Scheme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56.* Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017.

The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016.

Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45.* Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

*Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44.* Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

*Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40.* Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

*Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39.* Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37.* Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36.* Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on livelihoods, governance and forests, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33.* Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30.* Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

Smallholder access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production decisions, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28.* Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala, Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23.* Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report* 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20.* Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18.* Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults in rural Nicaragua, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in *Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13.* Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

*Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12.* Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014. *Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10.* Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5.* Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of farmers? Evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.* 

The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

In many African countries, men are less likely to test for HIV than women. Truck drivers, a male-dominated profession, have even lower HIV testing rates. In addition, their mobile profession is correlated with a lifestyle that puts truck drivers are at higher risk for HIV compared with people working in other settings.

This paper assesses the effect of an intervention implemented by North Star Alliance to provide truck drivers attending two of their clinics a choice of HIV testing options, including a self-administered oral HIV test in the presence of a health care provider or to take home and perform on their own. The study found that, at least initially, the offer of a choice increased HIV testing compared to those who were offered only standard HIV tests, performed by a health care provider. However, a repeat offer via text message did not result in increased rates of re-testing.

#### **Impact Evaluation Series**

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 202-203, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India

3ie@3ieimpact.org Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

